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Wednesday, October 8, 2013


--- On commencing at 9:07 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Good morning.  Please be seated.


Good morning.  I believe today we are hearing the panel from the Council of Canadians.  Sorry.  Good morning, Mr. Shrybman.  Quite sensible.


Just before your witnesses are introduced, are there any preliminary matters from any other –
Preliminary Matters:


MR. POCH:  I just have one minor matter, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.


MR. POCH:  During the cross-examination of Mr. Chernick he was asked about where the observation came that there could be a distinction between Portlands Energy Centre's contract entitlements and what they actually use.  It's in his written evidence.


And he responded that that information came -- that suggestion came from Mr. Rosencrantz, and then he went on to observe that Mr. Rosencrantz had worked on contracting arrangements for Portland.  This is at volume 7, page 99, line 14.


Mr. Rosencrantz wanted me to put on the record in fact he did not work on contracting arrangements for Portlands.  His observations were drawn entirely from the public record in the EB-2006-0305 proceeding.  He didn't want anybody to think that he was relying on insider information there.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


We had been asked along with Enbridge by the Panel to provide a table of relationships between the various projects which are before the Board, as well as TCPL's Kings North project and the anticipated construction time lines, and that has been provided, and I propose that we mark that as an exhibit.


I did want to make one observation with respect to the chart, which is that it is entirely accurate, but it must be understood by reference to the footnotes in particular, because they explain more fully the relationships between the various projects.


And if I can put it in simple terms, the relationships are not dependent in an absolute sense.  It's more of a throughput volume relationship.  Certainly from Union's perspective that's true.


So projects are based upon certain volumes being transported on various pipelines, and that is referred to in the footnotes, which of course then refer to interrogatories and the transcripts.


So obviously we wanted to be helpful, but in order to fully digest the information it is necessary to have regard to the footnotes and the underlying evidence.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  We may have some questions on this, and I'm assuming we'd be able to address those to the joint panel?


MR. SMITH:  I believe that's correct.


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I apologize.  A few of us are wondering what table we're referring to here.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Are there some copies?


MR. SMITH:  There are copies that were provided, I believe, to Board Staff.


MR. MILLAR:  We have a few copies, but we don't have copies for all the parties.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Well, maybe some -- I think we're expecting to go perhaps take a brief break after the Council of Canadians panel is completed, so perhaps some copies could be made then.  And in the meantime let's give it an exhibit number so we don't forget to do that.


MR. MILLAR:  K8.1, and that's the interdependencies and time lines tables.

EXHIBIT NO. K8.1:  INTERDEPENDENCIES AND TIME LINES TABLES

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Anything further?  If not, Mr. Shrybman, if you would like to have your witnesses come forward.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Yes, thank you very much, Madam Chair, members of the Board.


Just by way of very preliminary introductions, seated nearest to me is Ms. Lisa Sumi, in the middle Mr. David Hughes, and furthest from me is Prof. Anthony Ingraffea.


I want to also indicate that I've prepared -- I've styled it a compendium, but it hasn't been filed with the Board.  It's simply a collection of the evidence and interrogatories that have been produced by the witnesses and numbered sequentially just for ease of reference during their evidence this morning.  I believe each of you has a copy.


MR. MILLAR:  I'll bring them up, Madam Chair.  It'll be -- let's mark it just for identification purposes as K8.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K8.2:  COMPENDIUM

MR. SHRYBMAN:  And I've given a copy to my friend, and Board Staff I believe has a copy as well.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Actually, witnesses, you have a button there for the mic --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Perhaps they can be affirmed or sworn first before you do any questions.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Oh, yes, of course.

COUNCIL OF CANADIANS – PANEL 1


Tony Ingraffea, Sworn

Dave Hughes, Affirmed

Lisa Sumi, Affirmed

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please proceed.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Thank you.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Shrybman:

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Prof. Ingraffea, if I might start with you.  You are the author of Exhibit L.EGD.COC.1, which has also been filed in the Union Gas proceeding as well.  It's titled "Carbon Footprint of Shale Gas Development Remedial Measures Necessary to Address"; is that correct?


DR. INGRAFFEA:  Yes.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  And you were also the author of the associated responses to interrogatories put to you by the parties; is that correct?


DR. INGRAFFEA:  Yes.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  And do you adopt these reports as your evidence in this proceeding?


DR. INGRAFFEA:  Yes, I do.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  I would like to ask you to turn to your curriculum vitae, which is under tab 1A of the compendium of documents you have before you.


I see that you earned your Ph.D. in civil engineering at the University of Colorado in 1977; is that correct?


DR. INGRAFFEA:  That's correct.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  And that you joined the faculty of Cornell University in 1977?


DR. INGRAFFEA:  That's correct.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  As an assistant professor at the time.  And that you became in 1987 a full professor of the School of Civil and Environmental Engineering at Cornell University.


DR. INGRAFFEA:  That's correct.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  You are since November 2005 to the present time the vice-presidential fellow on the faculty.


DR. INGRAFFEA:  Correct.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  And since August 2010 to the present time you are the president of the Physicians, Scientists, and Engineers for Sustainable and Healthy Energy Inc.


DR. INGRAFFEA:  Correct.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Now, in your curriculum vitae at the numbered pages in the compendium at 43, I see a list of publications that goes on for several pages.  Can I take it that these are publications that appeared in peer-reviewed journals?

DR. INGRAFFEA:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Prof. Ingraffea.  I'm not sure your microphone is still on.  Is it on?  You actually share although they're separate microphones for you and Mr. Hughes, each button controls both, if you know what I mean.  So don't let him touch his button.

[Laughter]


MR. SHRYBMAN:  The green light should be on.

DR. INGRAFFEA:  The light is on now.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  And can I also ask you on page -- about your research work, funded research projects?  I find those listed at pages 66 and following of your curriculum vitae.  Can you in general terms describe the nature of those funded research projects, which I see span quite a number of years?

DR. INGRAFFEA:  Almost all of those research projects are related to the mechanics of fracture of various media, and a significant percentage of them represent work I did either as a consultant for or a researcher for the oil and gas industry.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Madam Chair, on the basis of Dr. Ingraffea's experience and credentials I would ask that he be qualified as an expert with respect to the recovery of natural gas from high-volume fracturing from shale formations and the assessment of methane emissions and the related greenhouse gas footprint from the development, transportation and use of natural gas derived from these sources.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Do any counsel have any questions for Dr. Ingraffea, or submissions on the purported expertise?

MR. SMITH: No questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  The Board accepts him as described.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

If I can turn to you now, Mr. Hughes, you're the author of a report that you prepared for this proceeding.  It's filed as Exhibit L.EGD.COC.3, and it's also filed in the Union Gas proceedings as well, the title of which is "Shale gas supply to the Greater Toronto Area"; is that correct?

MR. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  You are also the author of the related responses to interrogatory requests from the parties with respect to your report; is that correct?

MR. HUGHES:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  And do you adopt these reports and these responses as your in evidence this proceeding?

MR. HUGHES:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Now, do you have any corrections that you wish to make to --


MR. HUGHES:  There's a minor typo on page 257 of the compendium, which is Exhibit M.COC.UGL, page 15 of 24.  Three lines down under "Response" -- sorry, two lines down under "Request," "a)" should be "c)".

There's three responses underneath that; each of them says "See response to UGL.COC IR 12."  Then in brackets, (b) and (c).  That should be, in brackets, "ii" for each of those three responses.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Are those all the corrections you wish to make?

MR. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Thank you.

Now, I want to ask you to turn to your curriculum vitae, which is under tab 2, pages 235 and 36.  It appears at the end of the report that you have just acknowledged as being the report you prepared for this proceeding.

I see from your curriculum vitae that you hold a master's degree in science in geology from the University of Alberta?

MR. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  When did you earn that, Mr. Hughes?

MR. HUGHES:  1975.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  And that you have -- you are a geoscientist who has studied energy resources of Canada for nearly four decades, including 33 years with the Geological Survey of Canada as a scientist and research manager, where you coordinated a team of 15 scientists and support staff; is that correct?

MR. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Can you describe the Geological Survey of Canada and tell us what that is?

MR. HUGHES:  The Geological Survey of Canada is an entity of Natural Resources Canada.  So it's really under earth science sector, which is a sector of NRCan.  It really handles the geology of Canada, has several offices across the country from Vancouver to Halifax.  I worked out of the Calgary office.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  In your role there, you developed a national coal inventory to determine the availability and environmental constraints associated with Canada's coal resources, as well as their potential for coal bed methane production and CO2 sequestration; is that correct?

MR. HUGHES:  Yes, I did.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  You are now team leader of the unconventional gas on the Canadian -- for unconventional gas on the Canadian Gas Potential Committee?

MR. HUGHES:  Yes.  I handle the unconventional gas report, as team leader, the last report that was published.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  You were the author of numerous papers and government and industry reports during your career with the Geological Survey?

MR. HUGHES:  Yes, I was.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  You left the Geological Survey of Canada in 2008 and you founded Global Sustainability Research Inc.?

MR. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  And you have recently offered two reports -– authored two reports commissioned by Post-Carbon Institute related specifically to shale gas and its prospects in North America's energy future?

MR. HUGHES:  Yes, I have.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Madam Chair, I would ask that Mr. Hughes be qualified as an expert with respect to the matter of energy resource assessment concerning the potential contribution of unconventional energy resources such as shale gas and tight oil to North America's energy supply.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Do any counsel have questions or submissions on Mr. Hughes' expertise?

MR. SMITH: No questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Hughes is accepted as an expert as described.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Thank you.

Ms. Sumi, may I now turn to you?

You're the author of the report that appears under tab 3 of the compendium, "The regulation of shale gas development, state of play"; is that correct?

MS. SUMI:  That's correct.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  And you were also the author of the responses to interrogatory requests made to you with respect to your report?

MS. SUMI:  Yes.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Do you adopt the report and the interrogatory responses as your evidence in this proceeding?

MS. SUMI:  I do.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Do you have any corrections to make to the report?

MS. SUMI:  I don't.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  You might -- if I can ask you to speak up a bit.  Is your microphone on?

MS. SUMI:  It is.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  I could barely hear you.  Can I ask you to turn to your curriculum vitae, which is under tab A of 3 in the compendium?

I see you have a master's of science degree in physical geography and soil science from the University of Toronto, which you earned in 1997?

MS. SUMI:  Yes.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Your work history includes, over the past 15 years, the analysis of regulatory and policy measures related to energy and extractive industries including hard rock minerals, coal tar sands, natural gas and oil; is that correct?

MS. SUMI:  Yes.

MR. SHRYBMAN:  On your CV you list a number of publications and reports.  The first one there is one you co-authored, which concerns the --investigating links between shale-gas development and health impacts through a community survey project in Pennsylvania.


Were you the co-author of that report?


MS. SUMI:  Yes, I am.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  And was that report published in a peer-reviewed journal?


MS. SUMI:  It was.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  And with respect to the other reports that are noted there, including on page 304, the report which you were the sole author of in 2010, "Environmental Concerns and Regulatory Initiatives Related to the Hydraulic Fracturing in Shale Gas Formations", can you describe that report and what it was prepared for?


MS. SUMI:  That report was prepared on behalf of the Council of Canadians for the Ontario Energy Board's natural-gas markets review in 2010.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  And further down the page I see in 2005 you are the sole author of a report entitled "Our Drinking Water at Risk:  What the EPA and the Oil Gas Industry Doesn't Want Us To Know About Hydraulic Fracturing"?


MS. SUMI:  Yes.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  So you've been working on that issue now for, is it seven years or longer than that?


MS. SUMI:  Well, it's probably ten years total.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  I understand that, with the exception of the first article I referred you to, your other publications have not appeared in peer-reviewed journals.


MS. SUMI:  Other than being cited, right.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Madam Chair, can I ask that Ms. Sumi be qualified as an expert on the question of U.S. regulatory policy as it applies to shale-gas development?  Her report is almost a literature review of initiatives underway in both federal and state level in the United States, and it's for the purposes of her survey of that regulatory landscape that I believe she's qualified as an expert.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Are there any questions or submissions on that question?


MR. SMITH:  I don't have any questions for Ms. Sumi with respect to the tender for the purposes of the matters covered in her report and providing a literature survey.  I don't have a concern with the qualification.


MS. CHAPLIN:  That's fine.  Thank you.  We'll accept that.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


I have a very brief examination-in-chief that I would like to conduct, if I might, of each of the witnesses, just to ask each of them one or two questions.


Prof. Ingraffea, if I might start again with you.  On the stand during these proceedings, Mr. Henning, who is a vice-president of ICF -- are you familiar with Mr. Henning?


DR. INGRAFFEA:  Yes, I am.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Appearing on behalf of Union Gas, stated in response to a question from Mr. Poch, who represents one of the intervenors in this proceeding, about concerns of methane leakage from shale gas, at page 65 of volume 3 of the transcripts.  You needn't go there.  Mr. Henning had this to say about that question:

"This is something that has been discussed", I'm quoting, "quite a bit.  There have been a number of studies, including one that's on the record here in this particular proceeding from Cornell University, that looks at methane emissions."

I believe that's your report.  And then goes on to say:

"I would point out that there have been four peer-reviewed studies that have concluded that the numbers that were in that particular study from Cornell were overstated, and in fact subsequent to that the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency has lowered their methane emissions associated with conventional gas production estimates."

I guess that's unconventional gas production estimates.
"But, yes, it's clearly something that is under debate."


Are you aware of the debate that he's referring to, and can you comment on it?


DR. INGRAFFEA:  Yes, I am, and, yes, I will.  The report he refers to from Cornell University is a peer-reviewed journal paper of which I am co-author, and it was the first paper on the topic of methane emissions from shale gas ever to appear in the peer-reviewed literature.  Subsequent to that, he is correct, there have been at least four peer-reviewed papers, actually more like 12.  And in many of those papers the estimates in those papers are quite in agreement with ours.  Some of them are quite in disagreement with ours.


But the first point I want to make is that all of these papers, including ours, were the result of estimation, not actual measurement.


The principal conclusion of our paper was that measurements need to be made, and they have not yet been made even as we sit here today, completely, but there have now been four peer-reviewed papers published in the last year on actual measurements, and in each of those papers the actual measurements of methane emissions are higher than those that we estimated.  I want to point out the difference between measurement and estimation.


The second point he refers to is that EPA had lowered its estimate of methane emissions.  And again, the word "estimate" is important here.  The EPA does not measure methane emissions, has never measured methane emissions, so they lowered their estimate, but they have not yet completed, nor has anyone completed, measurements across the entire life cycle of methane emissions.  That work is currently underway by many researchers in the U.S., and it will be a few years before we know the complete story of how much methane is being emitted across the entire life cycle.


But I emphasize again that the peer-reviewed publications that have occurred in the last year in which actual measurements are made at various locations across the U.S. and at various locations in the life cycle all indicate that methane emissions are higher than those that we estimated.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Thank you.  And the other matter that Mr. Henning testified to that I want to refer you to is a reference from the same volume of the transcript of this proceedings at page 107.  And Mr. Henning's commenting on the volume of gas available from the Marcellus shale play and says, "I would suggest that we have" -- well, I'll read it in its entirety.
"In the context of the Marcellus, the resource in place is so large, well over a thousand trillion cubic feet.  I would suggest that we have a very, very long way to go."


And then at page 102 he makes another reference to the size of this resource, I think referring to the entirety of the shale-gas reserves in the U.S., and indicates that it's ICF's estimate at this point, just using current today technology, that the resource is more than 150 years at current levels of consumption in Canada and the United States.


Can you comment on those figures?


DR. INGRAFFEA:  Yes, I can.  Correctly, he uses the word "resource" to describe the amount of shale gas.  A resource is different than a provable reserve or an actual supply.  Current industry estimates, as documented by industry publications, are that only about 10 percent of the shale-gas resource is currently recoverable at today's prices and today's technology.


So it might or might not be true that there might be a thousand trillion cubic feet of natural gas in the Marcellus, but using today's technology and prices only about 10 percent of that is recoverable.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Thank you.  Mr. Hughes, if I can turn to you next.  And again, I want to refer you to comments about your evidence that were made by Mr. Henning when he appeared for Union Gas.  And the first is to -- again to volume 3 of the transcript of the proceedings from September 17th at pages 112 and 113.


I'm asking a question about your characterization of data, production data, from various shale reserve developments, and Mr. Henning says:

"Mr. Hughes and a very small minority of others has been making this particular case on the decline rates associated with it, and it's just a minority opinion at this point, and it's becoming even more.  I have to reword that.   It isn't such a way as even more of a minority, but there are fewer and fewer that are holding that opinion when analyzing unconventional gas reserves."


And at page 108, referring to your figure 8, which is on page 231 of the compendium.  Mr. Henning says:

"Moreover, in our experience, when you look at even both conventional and unconventional resources, the time frame for moving in and out of a particular field is in the order of 35 to 50 years.  So maybe we can start seeing some of the impact of this in very far out years..."

I think he's referring to the decline you show in your graph.
"... although the technology will continue to improve, but fundamentally I disagree with this characterization.  In our experience, it's inconsistent with production data that we have seen from the Marcellus."


Can you comment, then, on Mr. Henning's characterization of where your view of this is situated in the general range of views that are available about the productive capacity of shale reserves?


MR. HUGHES:  I think Mr. Henning, in terms of categorizing me as an outlier, is talking about the commonly held belief in terms of forecasts of the future, of rising, continually rising production from shale for a long time.


I'm not a forecaster.  If you look at figures of my evidence there is no forecast there.  I'm a data analyst, so I've actually gone back and looked at all of the production data for all of the shale plays in the U.S..  I looked at 30 different shale plays.  And I characterize the productivity profile, well declines, field declines for each of those plays, to really find out what was going on from actual production data.


So I didn't make forecasts, but I did elucidate the trends, the production trends in this data.  And when I think back over it, nobody has really criticized, that I know of, the data analysis that I've done.  I've used data that's available widely in the industry.


One can, I suppose, look at those trends and make suggestions about how credible the forecasts of continually rising supply are in the future, which tend to be contradicted by those trends in some cases.


If you look at the figure that you referred to on page 231 of the compendium, Exhibit L.EGD.COC.3, you can see first of all that shale plays in the U.S. are very young.  The oldest is the Barnett shale play in Texas.  It's about a decade old.  The Haynesville is only about five years old, and it's gone through what I term the life cycle of a shale play.


And what my work has found out is that shale plays inevitably are not homogeneous.  They're not uniform in terms of productivity.  They have high productivity sweet spots and they have much larger areas of much lower productivity.


So when a shale play like the Haynesville is initially discovered, we don't know where the sweet spots are at that point in time.  The drilling discovers those sweet spots.


If you look at well productivity or well quality, which is defined as the initial production rate of wells, you'll find that the average productivity by year of wells climbs as those sweet spots are discovered and drilled off.  And as the sweet spots become saturated with wells, the average productivity declines.  And that's happening with four out of the five top shale plays in U.S..


So those are the trends from the data.  I didn't make any particular forecasts, although I have used third-party forecasts from agencies like the EIA to sort of balance what the trends from the data are showing versus the commonly held belief that shale gas is going to grow for a very long time to come.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Hughes.  One other question, and that concerns the contribution of coal bed methane.


I asked Mr. Henning a question about that, and he agreed that estimates probably of a decade ago estimated that by this point in time, 75 percent of our natural gas supply would be from coal bed methane, and it's only a very small contribution now.  And he confirmed that.   I asked him, well, does that mean that the projections were off, and he said no.


And at page 115 of that same transcript, our exchange, in our exchange Mr. Henning says -- he's referring to a chart in his evidence, but the gist of that is that the long-term supply curves for different types of natural gas including coal bed methane, where shale gas is, shale gas has more gas and can be produced at lower cost.


So what's happening to coal bed methane is not that the resource wasn't there and it could have been produced; what happened to coal bed methane is that it got beaten by technology of shale.


So can you comment on that response?


MR. HUGHES:  Well, I spent a large part of my career looking at coal and coal bed methane, which really came onto the radar in the late '80s.


There is a field called the San Juan Basin in southern Colorado and northern New Mexico, which was producing very high volumes of coal bed methane.  And as a member of the Geological Survey, we went there and looked at the productivity of these wells.


And it was generally assumed that that was really a prototype for what coal bed methane would look like across North America.  There was very aggressive forecasts of supply from coal bed methane.  The National Energy Board, for example, in 1999 said that coal bed methane would be 75 percent of Canada's gas supply in the coming years.


That didn't pan out.  There's very large resources of coal in Canada, and if you make the assumption that every tonne of coal has a certain amount of coal bed methane in it, it comes out to a very large number.  But when we actually started to drill these deposits, we found that a very large proportion of them wouldn't produce at all due to permeability, due to structural destruction of the cleat system to allow gas to migrate through the coal.  And only a very small portion of the resource, mainly in Alberta, turned ought to be productive.


The forecasts for coal bed methane in the U.S. are for it to continue to decline, and the same thing in Canada, in essence.  So it just didn't pan out, and a lot of that was for geological reasons, not technological reasons.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Hughes.


Ms. Sumi, if I might then turn to you, I have one question for you, and that concerns the -- again, Mr. Henning's evidence of how the cost of prospective regulation or current and prospective regulation has been factored into his calculation of the price that one would have to pay for gas from shale deposits.


At page 97, after indicating that they have generated an estimate with respect to the cost of water abatement remedial measures, which he believes -- which I believe he indicated to be somewhere between 7 and 11 percent, adding that much to the cost of the well, he went on to say this:

"I would note that the incremental cost impacts of that can change, depending upon what the baseline of the regulation is.  I put it out there to illustrate the point I was trying to make, that incorporating these kinds of changes in regulation are not going to be cost-prohibitive for the development of this resource, in our opinion."


Do you have a comment on that view?


MS. SUMI:  I did look over some of Mr. Henning's testimony.  It seems to me like the only costs that he worked into his calculation were those water costs, and there are a whole host of regulatory initiatives on the horizon that could impact the cost of drilling a well, which -- doesn't appear that he's worked into his calculations.


So greenhouse gas emissions, if there were to be any regulations, more stringent regulations to limit greenhouse gas emissions from wells, and Mr. Ingraffea has talked about it.


Ozone regulations are on the horizon, and if those were to pass, they -- I mean, the oil and gas industry and other industries have talked about it being the most costly regulation ever.  So we don't know what that can do to the cost of drilling a well.

There are solid-waste disposal issues that it appears he hasn't factored in.  Well construction standards are another set of regulations that are being looked at really carefully by the Bureau of Land Management and some of the states, and those could also push up the costs.


And, you know, in my testimony I've written a lot about the emerging interest in looking at the public health effects related to shale-gas drilling, and we don't know what the potential regulatory impacts could be of that.  But I think that's another piece that's on the horizon that could have a cost impact.


So while he says that his analysis is that it's not going to be cost-prohibitive of the drilling of some wells, I feel like he hasn't looked at the whole picture, or included the whole picture in his calculations.


And the other piece, I guess, would be that there is an increasing trend of -- and it's supported by polling data, that shows that a lot of citizens in the United States are increasingly -- how do I put this?  They are opposed to hydraulic fracturing.  There have been some recent polls in the past couple months.  There was a PEW research poll that showed that 49 percent of citizens polled were against increased use of hydraulic fracturing to get out gas reserves.


And in Pennsylvania I'll note there was a poll earlier this year where 68 percent of Pennsylvanians support a moratorium on gas drilling.


So again, these are things that, you know, while a moratorium might not in the long-term stop shale-gas production, it could have significant impacts in the short-term on the cost and supply of gas there.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Are there any moratoria now in place with respect to shale-gas development?


MS. SUMI:  There are.  New York state is probably the most well-known, and there are a couple in Canada as well.  I think Quebec and the Yukon have a moratorium right now.  But New York state, which is in the -- which has Marcellus shale gas reserves, has a state-wide de facto moratorium.  They are not allowed to develop there until a study has been completed on the health and environmental impacts.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair, members of the Panel.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  I believe that Union and GEC have cross-examination for these witnesses.  Mr. Smith, are you going first, or Mr. Poch?


MR. POCH:  Sure.  I'm assuming Mr. Smith would prefer I go first.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Why don't you do that, Mr. Poch.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  I think I just have really one question left, probably for you, Mr. Hughes.  It appears that the Marcellus is a larger basin than these other basins you've noted, where the, if I may, the bubble has already burst or is appearing to break up.


Is there infrastructure -- gas-pipeline infrastructure in place such that as shale-gas production falls in other basins to the west that the users there would be competing for Marcellus gas?  And is it reasonable to conclude that that would tend to impact the price and availability of Marcellus gas?


MR. HUGHES:  Again, that's a little beyond my area of expertise.  I'm not a pipeline expert.  And if you look at -- you know, there is infrastructure, obviously, to bring gas from the midwest to the east.  From my understanding -- and again, I'm not an expert on this -- there's infrastructure being constructed to take Marcellus gas to the northeast, to really service growing demand from New York State and those areas which have been supplied, actually, from eastern Canada.  Offshore supplies in eastern Canada are now falling.  It's also supplied to a certain extent by LNG imports into New Brunswick.


But, yes, you know, as production falls in the west some Marcellus gas could go there.  But, you know, as production falls price is going to go up everywhere, in essence.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Thank you.  That was my question.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Mr. Smith?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, members of the panel.  My name is Crawford Smith.  I act for Union Gas.  I have a number of questions for you.  My questions will be primarily directed to Mr. Hughes.


I did provide some materials to your counsel, and I trust that you have been provided with a copy of those.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  No, they haven't, and I don't recall receiving them.


MR. SMITH:  I sent them you to yesterday by e-mail, a package.  I don't think it is all material Mr. Hughes is familiar with from what he has said in both his report and his examination-in-chief, so perhaps we can put it up, and if there is a problem with it then the witness can raise that, but I'm not --


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.


MR. SMITH:  -- sure what the transmission problem was.


MR. MILLAR:  We have copies for the panel.  I propose we mark it as K8.3, and that's Unions cross-examination compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.3:  UNION'S CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM

MR. SHRYBMAN:  Madam Chair, if I might.  I'm not an experienced counsel in this proceeding, but I had understood that there was to be 48 hours' notice of, you know, counsel wanting to present evidence during -- material during cross-examination.  I don't recall -- I have to check my BlackBerry, but I certainly didn't see an e-mail from Mr. Crawford yesterday, and my witnesses haven't seen this material.  So if they need an opportunity to have a break and consider it, that may be appropriate.  We'll have to see.


I'm seeing it for the first time, so it's difficult for me to judge whether there's a surprise in this or how familiar the panel might be or Mr. Hughes might be with any of this.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Well, why don't we see how the questions progress.


MR. SMITH:  By all means, if the witnesses need a moment, I'm more than prepared --


MS. CHAPLIN:  But Mr. Millar, we did -- this was received by the Board, was it not?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, the Board received copies.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  So I would expect, Mr. Shrybman, that you did in fact receive it, but you can let us know if in fact that was not the case.


MR. SHRYBMAN:  But less than -- certainly less than the 48 hours, I gather, which is the protocol in such cases.


MR. ELSON:  I don't remember receiving this as well.  I'm not sure if other parties did --


MS. CHAPLIN:  You didn't?  Others received it, except us?

MR. SMITH:  No, I sent it to Mr. Shrybman, to the Board, and counsel for Enbridge and counsel for TransCanada.  It was my cross-examination.  That's why I didn't distribute it more broadly.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Well, why don't we let -- Mr. Smith, why don't you begin with your questions, and we'll see how they progress, and we'll determine then what the best course of action is, whether or not it would be helpful for the witnesses to take a break or whether you wish to take another approach.  Just see how it goes.


MR. SMITH:  Certainly.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Maybe we can just put the material up on the screen so we have it.


Mr. Hughes, you refer in both your pre-filed evidence, interrogatories, and in your examination in-chief to the U.S. Energy Information Administration.  And you are familiar with that administration?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes, I am.


MR. SMITH:  And as I understand it, the U.S. Energy Information Administration is a statistical and analytical agency within the United States government.


MR. HUGHES:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And it's my understanding that it is the primary federal government authority on energy statistics and analysis; correct?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes, it is.


MR. SMITH:  And are you aware, sir, that by law its data, analyses, and forecasts are independent of approval by any other officer or employee of the United States government?


MR. HUGHES:  I would suspect that to be true.


MR. SMITH:  Now, you do refer to their forecasts in your evidence, and I'd like to just, if I could, review the evolution of some of their forecasts.


My understanding is that every year the EIA prepares what they call the annual energy outlook.  Are you aware of that?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes, they do.


MR. SMITH:  And that annual energy outlook includes a review of production information from various energy sources?


MR. HUGHES:  Yeah, it's mainly a forecast.  The latest forecast was out to 2040, I believe.


MR. SMITH:  They also prepare a consumption forecast from various energy sources?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes, they do.


MR. SMITH:  That forecast includes forecasts of production from natural gas sources?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH: And that forecast would include information in relation to shale gas production?


MR. HUGHES:  In fact, I've included their latest forecast on page 245 of the compendium.


MR. SMITH:  That's why I was quite confident you would be familiar with it.


If you turn to page 2 of the compendium, you'll see the –-

MR. SHRYBMAN:  I don't think Mr. Hughes has this.


MR. SMITH:  It should be on the screen immediately in front of him.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Could the witnesses be provided with a hard copy, just so they see the compendium in its entirety?


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Madam Chair, I did find e-mail at two o'clock yesterday afternoon.  I was speaking at a conference in Niagara Falls, and frankly was relying upon the fact that I would have seen something last Friday.


MS. CHAPLIN:  We've covered that ground, Mr. Shrybman.  Let's provide it to the witnesses and see if they are comfortable responding to questions.  And if Mr. Hughes is not, he will let us know.


MR. SMITH:  If I can ask you to turn to page 2, this is the cover page we have here, the "Annual energy outlook for 2010."  And if I could ask you to turn to page 4, sir, this was the view of the EIA in 2010, and if you look on the right-hand side of the page you will see a paragraph that begins "In the reference case"?  Do you see that?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:

"In the reference case, total domestic natural gas production grows from 20.6 trillion cubic feet in 2008 to 23.3 trillion cubic feet in 2035.  With technology improvements and rising natural gas prices, natural gas production from shale formation grows to 6 trillion cubic feet in 2035, more than offsetting declines in other production."


And then it goes on to say:

"In 2035, shale gas provides 24 percent of the natural gas consumed in the United States, up from 6 percent."


And you see that there, sir?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And that was this forecast at that time?


MR. HUGHES:  Yeah.  I follow the EIA every year.


MR. SMITH:  You'll see, then, on the bottom of this page they have a chart, which breaks out the relative contribution from various sources.  And you'll see the apportionment to shale gas there on the bottom right-hand side.  Do you see that?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  If I could ask you to turn, just so we see how the numbers are elsewhere reflected, if you could turn to page 11, sir, this is a table which is contained in their rather lengthy report, table A14.  It's produced annually, is my understanding.


And if you look at the bottom quarter of the table, you'll see a reference to shale gas under "Dry production"?


MR. HUGHES:  Right.


MR. SMITH:  And you'll see their forecasts show an increase of 5.3 percent annual growth from 2008 to 2035. And if you look over in the right-hand side, you see the figure 6.00, and that's a reference to the 6 trillion cubic feet that we found in the executive summary.  Are we agreed on that?


MR. HUGHES:  Yeah.  I see that.


MR. SMITH:  And one of the things that the Energy Information Administration does is they also prepare a comparison of the natural gas production forecasts from other agencies which actually produce such forecasts. You're aware of that?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And we see that -- I've extracted that.   We see that at page 8, and you'll see in the middle of the page what they call the reference case, which is their forecast.


For 2010 they had forecast of 19.23 trillion cubic feet for dry gas production.  Do you see that?  Middle of the second –- third column from the left-hand side, sir?


MR. HUGHES:  Page 8?


MR. SMITH:  Page 8 of the compendium, the column labelled "AEO 2010 reference case"?  "Dry gas production, 19.29?


MR. HUGHES:  I'm seeing 21.31 for some reason.


MR. SMITH:  Well, the 21.31 is the production forecast for 2025.  Do you see that?


So you'll see the way they divide the chart, sir, is the first box, the first grouping of figures is for 2015.  If you look in the middle of the first part of the table, sir, in the middle of the table you'll see a reference to 2015; do you see that?  Under the column "DB".

MR. HUGHES:  Sorry, I'm looking halfway down.  I should have been looking at the top of the column.  I see it.


MR. SMITH:  So you have the reference to 2015?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes, the 19.29.


MR. SMITH:  So this is their -- their forecast for 2015 is 19.29, and they have a forecast of 21.31 for 2025.  Do you see that, partway down?


MR. HUGHES:  Right.


MR. SMITH:  Then if you turn over the page, you'll see their forecast for 2035 of 23.27 trillion cubic feet, and that corresponds with the 23.27 trillion cubic feet we saw in the executive summary?  And this is all information you would have seen before?


MR. HUGHES:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you can see over on the right-hand side, to the extent entities do prepare projections going out in time, we see those various production forecasts.  And I simply observe that they are there for comparison purposes.  We need not go through them all.  They are labelled.  If you look on the next page, page 9, sir, you'll see the footnote refers to who the entities are, with the second one being Global Insight?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  So that was the view in 2010.  Maybe to move this along, can I ask you to turn to page 23?


And this is the "Annual energy outlook for 2012," and this was something you would have seen at the time and reviewed?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  If we turn over to the executive summary and page 26, and the heading:

"Natural gas production increases throughout the projection period, allowing the United States to transition from a net importer to a net exporter of natural gas."


Do you see that?


MR. HUGHES:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  You'll see their view held at that time, second sentence of that paragraph:

"Shale gas production increases in the reference case from 5 trillion cubic feet per year in 2010, which was 23 percent of total U.S. dry gas production, to 13.6 trillion cubic feet per year in 2035, 49 percent of total U.S. dry gas production."


And you'll see that?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  That was obviously a significant increase in their forecast?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  You'll see there on page 28 of the compendium, in the upper left-hand corner you'll see the equivalent of the graph that we looked at earlier that shows the relative contribution of shale gas to U.S. natural gas production.  And you'll see the significant increase in shale gas.  Do you see that?


MR. HUGHES:  I see that.


MR. SMITH:  And what they say underneath that chart in the second paragraph -- and this is a reference back to the executive summary again -- shale gas accounts for 49 percent of total U.S. natural-gas production in 2035, more than double its 23 percent share in 2010.  And then they go on to discuss the estimated proved and unprovable shale-gas resources, amounting to a combined 542 trillion cubic feet, and that was their estimate at the time?


MR. HUGHES:  Right.  And I believe they have lowered that estimate in the 2013 version.


MR. SMITH:  We'll come to their projection for 2013 in a minute, sir.


So if we look at -- turn over the page to page 29, and this is the equivalent of the table we looked at before with their comparison of dry gas production going out 2015, 2025, and 2035, over on the next page.


MR. HUGHES:  Yes, I see that.


MR. SMITH:  Now, if you look at, just so that we complete 2012, if you look at page 32, what you'll see, sir, is -- page 32 of the compendium.  This is again schedule A14, oil and gas supply, the table that we had looked at previously, and you should see three-quarters of the way down the page on the left-hand side a reference to shale gas?


MR. HUGHES:  What page are we on again?


MR. SMITH:  Page 32 of the compendium, sir.


MR. HUGHES:  Thirty-two.  Ah, yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:   You'll see the reference to shale gas, and then you'll see the increase in their reference case from the 5 million, or 4.99, all the way up to the 13.63 trillion cubic feet, and that is their forecast for production from shale gas in the United States by 2035.


MR. HUGHES:  I see that.


MR. SMITH:  And that was their forecast at the time.


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Now, you referred to their more recent or their most recent forecast, and that begins on page 33.


MR. HUGHES:  Yes, I see that.


MR. SMITH:  And they now have projections extending not just to 2035 but out to 2040, is my understanding.  Are you aware of that?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And if you look at again page 37, and what you'll see in the upper left-hand corner again -- my apologies, it's in colour, and they're -- I don't have colour copies, but you'll see in the handout the chart that shows the relative contribution of shale gas, and again they continue to project a very large contribution from shale gas; correct?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes, that's the same chart that I have on 245 of the compendium.


MR. SMITH:  And their projection, their forecast, is that the total production as they say partway through the first paragraph underneath that table is that the share of total production increases from 34 percent in 2011.  Just pausing there, that is already a large percentage for 2011.  You would agree with me?


MR. HUGHES:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And it increases to 50 percent by 2040, and that is their forecast, their most recent forecast.


MR. HUGHES:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And so we can see the data on the back, the very last page of the compendium, page 42, we see again table A14, oil and gas supply.  And you'll see two-thirds of the way down the reference to shale gas.  Do you have that, sir?


MR. HUGHES:  I do see that.


MR. SMITH:  And maybe we can -- you'll see that it grows in every year, and it grows out to the 16.7 trillion cubic feet for 2040.  You see that on the far right-hand side?


MR. HUGHES:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And so that we can do an apples-to-apples comparison, if you look at 2035, their production forecast is 15.33 trillion cubic feet?


MR. HUGHES:  Right.


MR. SMITH:  It's one column over.  And that compares to, if you look back at page 32, sir, the comparison of 13.63 trillion cubic feet for 2035; correct?


MR. HUGHES:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  So in the last year they have increased the forecast for 2035 by 1.7 trillion cubic feet.


MR. HUGHES:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  Now, as you say in your -- you said or you say in your report, I think it's fair to summarize it, you are critical of the -- actually, before we go to that can I ask you to just turn back -- my apologies -- just turn back to page 38 of the compendium.


And what we have on page 38 of the compendium is the equivalent of the charts we've looked at for earlier years, but it shows the comparisons of natural-gas production for 2025, 2035, and 2040.  Do you see that?


MR. HUGHES:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And it has a production forecast from a number of entities, including Global Insight and ICF, among others.  Do you see that?


MR. HUGHES:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And without going through all of them, is it fair to say that, while there is a range, all of them show continued growth in natural-gas production?


MR. HUGHES:  They do, yes.


MR. SMITH:  And that that continued growth in natural-gas production would primarily be driven by the increase in shale-gas production.


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Now, you are critical in your report, sir, of the EIA and its forecast and those of other organizations.  That's a fair summary?


MR. HUGHES:  When I look at the actual data and what is happening in these plays, you can see that they are very young, they have grown very quickly.  There's no question that shale gas has been a game changer in the U.S.  It grew from 2 percent of production in the early part of the century to about 40 percent in 2012.  That's an incredible growth.


But if you look at the data for some of these individual plays, like the Haynesville, which was unknown in 2008, it was the largest shale gas play in the U.S. in 2012.  And production is collapsing.  The Haynesville is now down 27 percent.


What the EIA has done has basically assumed that those growth profiles for those plays are going to keep -- are going to be continuous and going to keep rising.  And what I've seen by an analysis of the historical data is that they may have relatively short lives.  If you look at the Haynesville it looks like it's gone through middle age into old age in only five years.


If -- we've gone through a litany of different forecasts from the EIA.  And I would say that's one of the downfalls of forecasting.  You know, every year they have tried to build in that very rapid growth projection, and an analysis of the data shows that that growth is not continuing for four out of five plays.


Growth in the Marcellus is certainly continuing.  It's now close to 10 bcf a day, which is, you know, up from virtually zero in 2007.  It's a stellar growth.

But again, if you look at it closely -- and I have;  I've looked at it on a county-by-county basis.  And you can see that, rather than being a broad, homogeneous field, it's broken down into sweet spots.  And the sweet spots are being disproportionately drilled.  Let's put it that way.


And in essence, if you look at what I showed you for the overall plays, rising quality of wells until the sweet spots are located and drilled off, and then quality falls.  That's already happening for the two best counties in the Marcellus; productivity is beginning to fall, irregardless of the application of better technology.

MR. SMITH:  That was a long answer to what I felt was a relatively straightforward question, which is that you are critical of the EIA forecast.  That's a fair summary of your evidence?


MR. HUGHES:  I followed their forecast for years and they are not very accurate, no.


MR. SMITH:  And you have not in this proceeding prepared a forecast of your own, have you?


MR. HUGHES:  No, I haven't.  I've strictly looked at the historical production data.


MR. SMITH:  And, Dr. Ingraffea, you have not prepared a production forecast in this proceeding, have you?


DR. INGRAFFEA:  No, I have not.  That's not my area of expertise.


MR. SMITH:  Ms. Sumi, you have not prepared a production forecast of your own, have you?


MS. SUMI:  No, I haven't.


MR. SMITH:  In the tail end of your examination-in-chief, Mr. Hughes, you made a reference to coal bed methane and you indicated that the projections for -- I believe you indicated that projections for coal bed methane were for it to decline.  Do you recall that?

MR. HUGHES:  Sorry, that's just now?

MR. SMITH:  Your examination-in-chief, sir.  Do you recall making that comment about coal bed methane?


MR. HUGHES:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to page 42 of the compendium?


Immediately underneath the shale bed -- shale gas forecast, you'll see the forecast for coal bed methane, and you will see, as I read it, sir, that what they are projecting is, in fact, an increase over time from the 2011 point of 1.71 trillion cubic feet up to 2.11 trillion cubic feet.  Do you see that?


MR. HUGHES:  So I was incorrect in stating it was in a decline.  It's essentially flat to slight growth.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you, then, sir, to turn back to page 37 of the compendium?  And I had taken you to this page before and this table before, but if you look at the last sentence of the first paragraph, you'll see a sentence which begins:

"The growth in coal bed methane production is not realized until after 2035, when natural gas prices and demand levels are high enough to spur more drilling."


Would you agree with me, sir, that that statement is entirely consistent with Mr. Henning's evidence about shale gas beating out, on an infra-marginal basis, coal bed methane?


MR. HUGHES:  In the view of the EIA.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, sir.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Are there any other counsel?  Mr. Millar, did you have any questions for the panel?


Mr. Shrybman, do you have anything in re-examination?


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Nothing in re-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And the Board has no questions for this panel, so the witnesses are excused with the Board's thanks.


We will -- we will take a short break now to allow the witnesses to change over.  So we'll return, let's say, at 10:30.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 10:21 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:36 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.


Are there any preliminary matters before we continue with the next panel?  I believe a number of these witnesses have already been sworn or affirmed, but some of them are new, so -- who is leading the charge here?

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  I'm out.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Mr. Cameron?


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  I'll just note that we have two witnesses who are new to you and need to be sworn.  Mr. Stephen Clark is the one closest to the Panel.

UNION GAS, ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION, GAZ METROPOLITAINE, TCPL – JOINT PANEL


David Schultz, Sworn

Stephen Clark, Sworn


Malini Giridhar, Previously Sworn


Mark Isherwood, Previously Sworn


Dave Rheaume, Affirmed

MS. HIVON:  And there is also Dave Rheaume for Gaz Métro.


MR. CAMERON:  Madam Chair, members of the Panel, just as a logistical issue, Stephen Clark has recently suffered a back injury and has difficulty sitting down, and so if you notice him standing up at some point during his testimony it's just because his pain has made it impossible for him to remain sitting.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please, Mr. Clark, whenever you feel that it would be helpful to, by all means adjust your position however it best suits you.  Lying down maybe is the best.

[Laughter]
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Cameron:

MR. CAMERON:  Madam Chair, members of the Panel, you've watched the evolution of this hearing and in particular the emergence of the settlement between TransCanada and the LDCs, and as a result I will not be asking Mr. Schultz and Mr. Clark to adopt TransCanada's testimony.


The settlement has changed everything, and TransCanada's pre-filed evidence is no longer accurate.  Parties might wish to ask TransCanada questions about their pre-filed materials, and these two witnesses should be able to deal, I think, with most of those questions; but so much has changed with the settlement, that they and TransCanada can no longer support the pre-filed materials, and so it's possible that there are some questions they won't be able to answer or follow up on with you.


If I can just do a brief introductions of the two witnesses.  Mr. Schultz, who is the second from you, is an engineer, and has extensive experience in pipeline system demand -- sorry, design on the TransCanada system, but he's now the senior TransCanada executive responsible for the financial performance of the TransCanada Mainline, which is the pipeline that we're concerned with on this panel.


And Mr. Clark is currently the senior vice-president of what's called Canadian Eastern U.S. Natural Gas Pipeline.  So that's all of the Canadian pipelines:  Nova, Foothills, and the U.S. Northeast Pipelines as well.  And he too is an engineer, but now with commercial responsibility.


So I think between the two of them they should be able to answer all of the questions related to TransCanada's involvement in this joint panel.


If I can ask just as a preliminary matter for the aid of the Panel's understanding of things, if Mr. Schultz could just update the Panel on the status of the settlement that you saw?  It was pre-filed as a document called the terms sheet, and the parties have been working on formalizing that, and Mr. Schultz has just a few words to update parties and the Panel on where that stands now.


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.  So the terms sheet was our preliminary -- basically agreements in principle, and we've been following up with a more formal settlement agreement.  We're still in the drafting stage of that agreement, so that's not yet complete.  We're targeting to have that completed by the end of this month, at which point we would then be finalizing our application to the NEB with a target of filing the actual application of the results of the settlement, in terms of tariffs and tolls, to the NEB by the end of November.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  And Mr. Clark has a brief opening statement or opening remarks.  They are intended to, in an ideal world, shorten the cross-examination by hitting off some points that we anticipate cross-examiners to be interested in, and if it's acceptable to you I'll just ask him to make those brief remarks.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, please proceed.
Presentation of the Settlement Agreement by Mr. Clark:

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.  Good morning, Madam Chair and Board members.  As Mr. Cameron mentioned, my name is Steve Clark.  I've joined the panel with the objective of demonstrating TransCanada's conviction and commitment to the settlement that was reached with the eastern LDCs in mid-September.


As Mr. Cameron mentioned, the settlement has significantly changed things.  It has altered our position in this proceeding with respect to the facilities that Union and Enbridge have applied to construct and operate.  And the settlement has resulted in our support for approval of these projects.


Now, as Mr. Cameron mentioned, the purpose of my remarks are to try and make some brief, concise comments that will help add to the efficiency.  So hopefully that will help reduce the amount of cross-examination that we need to go through.


Let me begin by describing the world in which we would be operating in the absence of the settlement.  I just heard a portion of the testimony a few minutes ago, and clearly the natural-gas world that North America operates within has changed very significantly over the last few years.


These changes have affected TransCanada, and as a result of those changes we went through an extensive regulatory proceeding with the National Energy Board over the last couple of years, and a decision was issued by the NEB earlier this year, and it has changed significantly how TransCanada provides service on our Mainline.


Some of the fundamental components of that NEB decision include setting fixed tolls for firm service for a five-year period at levels that do not recover TransCanada's costs during that period.


As part of the decision, the board also gave us the freedom to use our expertise to set bid floors for our discretionary services, so it results in a world where our discretionary services can be priced with significantly broader ranges than have historically been seen.


The Board also made it very clear to us that we have an obligation to maximize revenues to the greatest extent possible, all within a cost-of-service context.


The board also made it clear to us that the recovery of our costs will be visited post-2017, where our behaviours and performance will be assessed, and there will also be an assessment of whether or not fundamental risk has been realized by the Mainline.


In addition, unlike the LDCs that have a franchise and an obligation to serve, the board confirmed that TransCanada does not have an obligation to serve, and that's a significant distinction.

Now, the NEB decision resulted in a number of good outcomes.  For example, the environment where we can set discretionary revenues or discretionary pricing has resulted in the shippers using those services properly paying for the service that they receive.  That wasn't so much the case prior to the decision.  So it's a good outcome.


But the decision has also raised a number of complexities that we in the industry have not faced in the past.


For example, the obligation to maximize revenues makes it very difficult for us to embrace the conversion of long-haul to short-haul.  As you will have seen from some of our previously filed materials, changing from long-haul to short-haul reduces revenues for those volumes by about a ratio of 8:1.  So there's a significant loss of revenue opportunity if volumes move from long-haul to short-haul.


I mentioned a few moments ago that our tolls are set at levels that do not recovery our costs, our firm tolls.  That makes it very difficult for us to get our head around adding capacity to enable short-haul when those short-haul tolls don't even recover the costs of the existing facilities, let alone any incremental capital investment required to accommodate short-haul flows.


I also mentioned that, post-2017, the board will reassess and examine how well we have performed, and they will examine the ability -- well, they are examine the reasonableness of our ability to recover our costs for the pre-2017 time frame in future years.  So there's a risk around our cost recovery.


So those are some of the complexities, and it results in certain outcomes that are little different.  We try to find ways to increase revenues, and as I mentioned a moment ago, that means we try to encourage long-haul volumes as much as possible and resist potential conversion to short-haul.  And to the extent the market does want short-haul service, we're faced with having to charge incremental rates for any capital additions, so that that investment makes sense for our shareholders.


What does that mean for our markets?  It means the business climate that we operate within is uncertain and unfamiliar.


You may be familiar with the amount of litigation that has emerged over the last three months, and it's certainly – I'll say it -- a turbulent world.


It means the prices that are paid for our service are unfamiliar and uncertain.  Our recent new capacity open season is -- illustrates the degree that that has manifested itself.


I do observe that those incremental tolls raise barriers to entry for new markets that are evaluating whether or not they want to locate in Ontario and in Quebec.  And I believe Mr. Rheaume has made some remarks about that, or will be making some remarks about that, and certainly his colleagues at Gaz Mét have made remarks about that.


So this puts us in a world where we are at odds with the market and the LDCs that represent those markets.


We recognize, though, that the market wants choice; it wants greater access to northeast U.S. shale.


We also recognize the market wants flexibility.  I think the market would like to have the reassurance they can access the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin, but they don't want to be restricted and captive it to.


And as I mentioned before, we recognize that incremental tolls raise barriers to entry, and I don't think that is something that helps the economic climate in eastern Canada.


Now, TransCanada is in the gas transmission business and we will continue to be so.  What the settlement does is it allows us to address the issues that arise from the RH-003-2011 decision.  It allows us to provide service in a manner that addresses the market's concerns with that business environment that results from that decision.


With the settlement, TransCanada's shareholders can transition to a world that the market wants.  We can reduce costs.  We can manage the risk of how deferrals and revenue collection are managed.  We can provide certainty around tolling.  And we can give the market flexibility to access supply from whatever source it prefers at any given point in time.  We can also expand short-haul capacity with rolled-in rates, which address some of the barriers to entry that I've talked to you had about.  And we can also dispense with a lot of litigation.


Thank you.
Examination-In-Chief by Ms. Hivon:


MS. HIVON:  Good morning.  Madam Chair, Members of the Panel.  I'm Marie-Christine Hivon, counsel for Gaz Métro.  I would like to introduce this morning Gaz Métro's witness in these proceedings, Mr. Dave Rheaume, who is manager, regulatory affairs and special projects at Gaz Métro.  Mr. Rheaume will testify as a member of the joint panel.


I would like to have Mr. Rheaume adopt the evidence of Gaz Métro in this file, and I understand that if there is any question of Gaz Métro's evidence, those questions will be asked while Mr. Rheaume is appearing on the joint panel.


And after that, I will invite Mr. Rheaume to present a short overview of Gaz Métro's perspective of these proceedings and of the settlement that has been reached between the parties.


So good morning, Mr. Rheaume.


MR. RHEAUME:  Good morning.


MS. HIVON:  I understand that you are a manager, regulatory affairs and special projects at Gaz Métro?


MR. RHEAUME:  That's right.


MS. HIVON:  And that you've been employed by Gaz Métro in various functions since 2009?


MR. RHEAUME:  That's correct.


MS. HIVON:  And I also understand that you hold a master's degree in economics from the Université Laval?


MR. RHEAUME:  That's correct.


MS. HIVON:  I would invite you to take a copy of three documents.  The first one is the evidence of Gaz Métro filed on June 28th, 2013, identified as Exhibit No. L.EGD.SC.GM1.  The second document is Gaz Métro's responses to interrogatories filed on July 19th, 2013.  And the last documents is your resume that was communicated and filed on October 3.


Can you confirm that these documents were prepared by you or under your direction and control?


MR. RHEAUME:  Yes.  I confirm that.


MS. HIVON:  And that these documents filed by Gaz Métro are accurate, to the best of your knowledge?


MR. RHEAUME:  Yes, they are.


MS. HIVON:  Do you adopt that evidence as part of the evidence of Gaz Métro in these proceedings?


MR. RHEAUME:  Yes, I do.


MS. HIVON:  Well, I would now invite Mr. Rheaume to deliver some short introductory remarks on Gaz Métro's perspective in these proceedings, if it is agreeable to you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, thank you.  Please proceed, Mr. Rheaume.
Presentation of the Settlement Agreement by Mr. Rheaume:

MR. RHEAUME:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Members of the Board.  I'm very pleased to be here.  First time I'll be doing testimony in English, so I'll be asking for everybody's smile when you don't understand.


[Laughter]


MR. RHEAUME:  The reason why Gaz Métro thought it would be important to make an opening statement was mostly to explain why we are here.  We usually do not intervene at the OEB.


It starts, obviously, from Gaz Métro's obligation to serve its market and the obligation to secure supply.  About a year ago, Gaz Métro went to its regulators with various intervenors to discuss where Gaz Métro should supply its market.  Obviously it was the issue of Empress versus Dawn.  And after a long process at the Régie, the Régie concluded that Gaz Métro needed to shift its supply from Empress to Dawn.


Reasons are explained in our evidence, and the decision of the Régie has been filed in this proceeding.  But very simply, the reasons were twofold.  First, about a $100 million of savings every year for Quebec customers.  Second, more flexibility and security of supply; being able to serve the market from Dawn than Empress.


Since that decision Gaz Métro has applied itself, trying to materialize that fact for its customers.  When we chose to intervene at the OEB for the GTA and Parkway projects, those projects were part of our ability to materialize that decision of the Board -- of the Régie, sorry.


Then -- and Mr. Clark made probably a better explanation than I'm going to do, but I'm going repeat a few things here -- then came the last few months, where lots of uncertainty happened in the market.  From the Quebec perspective, this uncertainty is absolutely unbearable.  We get issues with our customers.  Almost all of our industrial customers came back to Gaz Métro to get certainty in terms of transportation capacity, because they felt the environment did not allow them to be able to secure by themselves their needed capacities.


We have one very specific and now public case of a huge fertilizer plant that wants to install itself in Quebec.  It is a project that is strongly supported by the government, hundreds of jobs, and they would be the most -- they could be the most important customer, gas customer in Quebec.  And they are calling us and saying:  You need to settle things, because right now in the current environment, we cannot fund our projects because of all the uncertainty related to getting capacity and getting adequate supply at a fair cost in good terms.


So quick situation to say that to us the situation was absolutely unbearable, and we think this applies to Ontario as well.  Even though we have disagreements between LDCs and TransCanada over the last months, the situation is pretty simple, we think, and easy to understand.  We have an obligation to serve.  The RH-003-2011 decision is clear that TransCanada does not have an obligation to serve.  So that creates a difference that we think -- that require a solution.


Second, we think we have a right to access the supply of our choice.  TransCanada also think, and we agree with them, that they have a right to a fair opportunity to recover their cost.


So facing all these different -- I have the word in French -- elements that do make sense, we felt there was a need to get together and work and trying to find a solution for the public interest and for the bettering of the market, to get the market better.


We strongly believe that the settlement is the solution to end this uncertainty.  We think it's a win-win, as we say in Quebec, that it's good for all.  There are reasonable conditions for all.  It provides equitable and non-discriminatory access to all shippers in a timely manner.


We think that it's essential that whatever solution is brought forward needs to be non-discriminatory, that it's not a first come, first serve, that there's no acquired rights for certain shippers, that all shippers that want to access certain supply need to be treated fairly and equitably among them.


We think it provides for reasonable terms and conditions for shippers, and it's an enhanced opportunity for TransCanada to recover its cost.


We think this solution is the solution.  We think that having the three LDCs today in front of you with TransCanada supporting the GTA and Parkway projects is a demonstration of how needed these projects are.


We've had numerous questions in IRs about what's our alternative if these projects don't get constructed, and we need this capacity.  Right now TransCanada -- sorry, Gaz Métro does not have sufficient capacity to serve its market past November 1st, 2015.  We need to access additional capacity, and we think that the projects as they are presented to you today, including a 42-inch pipe for the GTA segment A, are essential projects and part of the solution with the settlement for -- to allow markets to access the supply that they need.


That covers -- thank you.


MR. CASS:  And to conclude the examination in-chief, Ms. Giridhar, perhaps I could ask you to add the perspective of Enbridge's GTA project to what's been said by the others.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Cass.


Madam Chair and Board Panel, you've heard a very compelling account from my co-panellists about the importance of market access and the settlement agreement in ensuring the market access.  We do recognize that the settlement agreement needs to go to the NEB for approval, but I would just like to make a couple of comments as they relate to Enbridge's applied-for facilities.


First of all, Enbridge first applied for a distribution-only pipeline in December of 2012.  It was scoped as an NPS-36 at the time.  We must remember that, even with the current scope, over 90 percent of the projected project spend is associated with the distribution need.


We have very compelling economics that allow a 10 percent or less project spend that will allow market access for Ontario and Quebec.


Secondly, we must remember that Enbridge needs these facilities to be in place for November of 2015 to meet the distribution needs in the GTA for the 2015-2016 winter.  In our undertaking response J6.X we have demonstrated that under a range of reasonable basis and utilization scenarios the gas-supply savings from this project exceed both the revenue requirement associated with our facilities and the impact of the terms sheet, in terms of tolls that will be paid for our portfolio.


We therefore believe that while the market-access issue needs to go to the NEB, EGD's requested facilities should be approved for an in-service date of November 2015.


Thank you.


MR. CAMERON:  The panel is available for cross-examination.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Mr. Elson, I understand you are going to be first?


MR. ELSON:  Yes, thank you.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  My name is Kent Elson.  I represent Environmental Defence, and today I'll have questions almost exclusively for the TCPL witnesses.


And just so that I can understand your respective expertise, my understanding, Mr. Schultz, is that your expertise is more in financial matters; is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  So previous to the role that I'm in currently, I did spend five years leading our system design group, so I probably would feel much more comfortable in technical engineering matters than I do in financial matters, but I also have acquired financial knowledge and expertise along the way as well, so I think I'm comfortable in both areas.


MR. ELSON:  I guess my question is, if I were to divide the panel or both of you between technical network expertise and financial, who would be the financial person?  Would that be yourself?


MR. CLARK:  Mr. Elson, perhaps we'll -- thank you.  Perhaps we'll help you by answering your questions -- we'll figure out who can best answer your questions, so why don't we leave it at that, and we'll do our best to accommodate you.


MR. ELSON:  What role did each of you play in drafting, reviewing, or approving the supplementary evidence that TCPL provided on August 16th, 2013?


MR. SCHULTZ:  So I would have the oversight of that activity.


MR. ELSON:  Was that picked up on the record?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Sorry.  It's two buttons and --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Two buttons, two mics, only one control.

MR. ELSON:  You oversaw that evidence?

MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, so under my areas, accountability.  I didn't do all of the drafting or everything else, but that was my group.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I would ask if the Board Panel and the witness panel could refer to Environmental Defence's cross-examination document book number 3, which is dated October 8th, 2013.


Do each of you -- this is a new document book, and I believe copies were provided to Board Staff, and there should be a copy on the dais.  I provided a copy to Board Staff --


MR. MILLAR:  I have copies here.  It's -- it'll be Exhibit K8.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.4:  ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE'S CROSS-EXAMINATION DOCUMENT BOOK NUMBER 3

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And the first item in this document book is the supplemental evidence of TransCanada, and I'm going to be asking primarily about this evidence.  First I'm going to ask you questions to get a better understanding of the evidence at the time it was submitted prior to the settlement agreement, and then I'm going to move on and discuss the settlement agreement and what has changed since this evidence was filed, but for the meantime I'll be asking that you restrict your answers to the circumstances existing prior to the settlement agreement in order to gain an understanding of this evidence.


And I would like to start by asking you to refer to page 2 of the document book, which is page 1 of the TransCanada supplemental evidence.  And I've underlined a portion on this page, and I will read that to you.  It says:

"This evidence will:  Describe why the savings that Enbridge and Union claim for their respective projects in the new circumstances of the amended application will not be realized and why those predictions of savings are inaccurate and unreliable, and why the projects are likely to represent net costs rather than savings."


Now, of course, things have changed, but at the time that this evidence was submitted do you, Mr. Schultz, believe that this statement that I just read is true?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  In other words, you believe that the savings predictions in Enbridge's and Union's evidence were inaccurate and unreliable?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  And that they would likely represent net costs?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That was the analysis, yes.


MR. ELSON:  If you could turn to page 3 of the TCPL evidence -- that's page 4 of the document book -- in the underlined portion, TCPL states that it has:

"...serious concerns with the savings calculated by Enbridge and Union."


And then provides two bullet points, 1 and 2, and I'll read the first one.  TCPL says:

"They do not in any way take into consideration the impact that the approval of these applications will have on TransCanada's existing infrastructure and the consequential impact that they will have on Ontario consumers, i.e., savings arising from a project are only transitory if they become increased expenses in subsequent years."


Now, I'll get to this point in more detail shortly, but generally speaking, the point that is being made in this paragraph is that Enbridge's and Union's purported gas savings would likely be more than offset by TCPL tolls; is that roughly accurate?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I think the way we were describing it was that the deferred amounts would accumulate in the TSA account, and that the disposition of that TSA account, depending on how that was treated, could result in increased tolls in the future, yes.


MR. ELSON:  And in that sense, the savings would be transitory>


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  I'm going to come back to item 2 later, but I'll focus on that first issue.  And if you could turn over the page to page 4 of the evidence -- that's page 4 of TransCanada's supplementary evidence -- and I'll read the underlined portion here.  The evidence says:

"Ontario consumers have historically paid increased TransCanada tolls, offsetting the short-term savings that the Ontario LDCs have realized by switching from long-haul to short-haul service on the Mainline."

And therefore, TCPL further states, further down, quote:

"The savings that Enbridge and Union and Gaz Métro hope to realize with lower transportation costs will evaporate, and Ontario consumers will have paid more expensive Dawn-sourced gas to no benefit, resulting in a net loss."

Then further down the page:

"If the projects proceed, the net revenue reduction experienced by TransCanada would be approximately $400 million per year."


So I understand from this that if the project had proceeded as planned, according to this evidence, back at the time prior to the settlement agreement, TCPL's revenue would have been reduced by approximately $400 million per year; is that right?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  And although it's impossible to say for sure, this would likely result in increased TCPL tolls?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's right.  So the ultimate disposition of the TSA has some uncertainty associated with it.  The belief we have is that at the end of 2017, that the board has given us an indication -- the NEB, that is -- that the effects of the TSA are likely to be borne by the shippers and result in some adjustment to our tolls going forward.


But there is also some uncertainty there as to whether or not all of that effect would be borne by shippers or not.


MR. ELSON:  And that's why -- to use the words of the evidence -- it is stated that the savings would, quote, evaporate?  Is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Well, to the extent that those deferred costs were then included in the calculation of future tolls, that would be the -- it was just a deferral of collecting the revenues.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  If you could move back to page 3 of TransCanada's supplementary evidence, I'm going to move onto the second point here.


The second point that you were making in this evidence is -- and I'll read it:

"The projected savings are premised on differences between gas commodity costs at Empress and at Dawn that are optimistic and inherently unreliable."


And I understand this paragraph to be making basically two points.  One is that the price differential fluctuates a lot and is unpredictable, which means that the savings predictions are inherently unreliable.  And a second but related point is that the price differential assumed by Enbridge is overly optimistic.  Is that a fair summary?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yeah.  I believe that was our opinion at that time.


MR. ELSON:  And if you could turn to page 7 of TransCanada's supplementary evidence, this page goes further on that point.


And you'll see there's a table showing the Empress-Dawn price differential from 2004 to 2013.  Do you have that table in front of you?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  My understanding of reading this is that when the price differential is at one, the cost of Empress is twice the cost at Dawn; is that right?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Actually, this is the absolute dollar difference in the two prices.  So it doesn't necessarily correlate to a multiple.


MR. ELSON:  So this is a dollar difference?


MR. SCHULTZ:  A dollar difference, yes.


MR. ELSON:  The dotted line is the Enbridge's assumed differential?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  The jagged line that is above the dotted line are the historic figures?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  It was once over $2.50 and it's now at roughly $1.50?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yeah.  At the time this chart was produced, that was roughly what the levels were, is the $1.50.  It has fluctuated constantly since then as well.


MR. ELSON:  One of the purposes of this chart is to show that Enbridge's estimate for the price differential is too optimistic; is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  We were observing that it would be below what the historic norm had been.


MR. ELSON:  Another purpose was to show that the differential is highly uncertain?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  In contrast, the TCPL evidence states below that, quote:

"TransCanada's long-haul revenue loss will be a certainty."


Is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct, at least to the extent based on the assumptions we used at the time.  Again, the math was showing the differential on a marginal basis of switching from long-haul to short-haul, what the effects of that would be.  To the extent that that was an absolute number, I think, is open for some question, but ultimately that was the assumptions that were used in the analysis.


MR. ELSON:  If you could turn to the following page, which is page 8 of TransCanada's supplemental evidence, on this page there's a number of tables summarizing the two factors we just discussed.  And table 4.3 provides the net impact based on the LDCs' stated savings.


So in the first column here, I'm just going to ask if you if I'm interpreting this table correctly.  The first column is the forecasted savings, and that's from the LDCs' application.


The second column is the TSA impact, which is, roughly speaking, the revenue lost to TransCanada.


And the third column is the net impact, which accounts for both forecasted savings and the revenue loss.


Is that -- am I describing this correctly?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  And overall, the net impact TCPL was predicting was $125 million in net losses?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  And further down on table 4.4, the columns represent the same figures, except it's calculated based on a 92-cent price differential from Empress to Dawn, and here the expected net impact is a $264 million loss?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, that's what the table shows.


MR. ELSON:  And those are net losses per year?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yeah.  It's an annual number, the net effect of the TSA deferred amounts and the forecasted savings.


MR. ELSON:  And you oversaw the preparation of this evidence, which you believed at the time was correct; is that right?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  The next table is table 4.5, which shows the net impact based on $1.50 price differential from Empress to Dawn.  And in that case, there's a $439 million net loss every year; is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  I'm going to move on and change gears a bit here.  During earlier cross-examinations --


MR. CLARK:  Mr. Elson, are you going to come back and ask us about --


MR. ELSON:  That's what I'm doing right now.


MR. CLARK:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. ELSON:  But I assume you were about to ask me if I was going to ask you about the settlement agreement.


MR. CLARK:  No, no, when you started your remarks you said we'll start with a pre-settlement discussion.


MR. ELSON:  Yes, yes.


MR. CLARK:  And --


MR. ELSON:  Now I'm moving to the post-settlement --


MR. CLARK:  -- (inaudible) make sure we go to the post-settlement discussion.  Thank you.


MR. ELSON:  During earlier cross-examinations Mr. Isherwood agreed that TCPL is more or less going to be kept whole as a result of the shift from long-haul to short-haul.  That quote appears at page 24 of our document reference book.  Would you agree with that statement?


MR. SCHULTZ:  As a result of the settlement?  Is that what we're talking about now?


MR. ELSON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yeah, I think to the extent that the implications of the revenue change from long-haul to short-haul are being factored into future rates.  I think the settlement also addresses other cost inputs, though, things like a reduced ROE and such.  So there is some implication to TransCanada, in terms of revenues pre- versus post-settlement.  But in terms of the implications of customers shifting from long-haul to short-haul, that will be factored into the tolls that will be calculated.


MR. ELSON:  And therefore TCPL, roughly speaking, would be kept whole?

MR. SCHULTZ:  For the period of the 20 -- out to 2020, yes, between 2015 and 2020.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I should just add to that a bit, I guess.  And the very next day I think I went into a bit more detail, in terms of the impacts to Union Gas customers.  So there's testimony the next day that gets into both how it was covered under section 11 of our evidence, but also went through some new analysis that I share with the Board, and we formalized it and submitted it as part of J4.5, which showed it more from perspective of Union Gas customers.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And I believe other intervenors will be addressing that in some detail.


So in other words, if TCPL is going to be kept whole, the settlement agreement, in a sense, eliminates the $400 million per year revenue short-haul -- shortfall discussed in the TCPL evidence.  Is that roughly accurate, Mr. Schultz?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Well, in that, yes, there won't be a deferral account building with that shortfall in it.  It will be factored into the new set of rates that will be produced and then charged to all customers.

So the 400 would have been viewed as a marginal analysis of the effects of just those contracts being transferred from long-haul to short-haul and the revenue implication of that, versus the settlement deals with everything in a comprehensive manner, factoring all of the effects of the transition and the other implications into the new rates.


MR. CLARK:  Mr. Elson, I think, if I may add, I think one of the things we have to do when assessing the settlement and the application that's -- the applications that are before you is to look at this thing in a broader sense and also for a longer-term.


One of the things that the settlement does is it reduces our costs.  We've agreed to reduce our return on equity and make a contribution to the financial underpinnings of the Mainline.


Over the longer-term it also allows the marketplace to transition to a short-haul world where short-haul markets do -- have -- no longer have accountability for the Prairies and northern Ontario pipeline costs.


So to focus on a short time frame, you know, a moment in time, I think is -- doesn't actually give a fair and accurate characterization of the overall result that comes out of the settlement.  I think that's an important thing for the Board to consider in its deliberations here.


MR. ELSON:  And I would like to get back to my original questions, but I'll follow that line with you briefly, Mr. Clark.


One of the issues you referred to was the ROE.  What's the yearly impact of the reduction in the ROE, roughly speaking?  I don't need an exact number.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. CLARK:  Just give us a moment, please.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That number actually shows up in J4.5.  The reduction from 11.5 percent to 10.1 percent is about 35 million per year.  Mr. Clark mentioned in addition to that the $20 million per year contribution.


MR. ELSON:  And the ROE, my understanding from the settlement agreement is that that term would persist whether or not the Board approves this project; is that correct?


MR. CLARK:  That's correct.  However, I want to point out that the settlement was negotiated as a collection of initiatives, including the construction of these facilities and TransCanada's commitment to construct the Kings North connector.


So I don't think you can parse one from the other.  The spirit and intent of the agreement is for the package to be considered as a whole.


MR. ELSON:  I'm not sure if at the end your answer was yes or no.  I believe -- I guess I'll have to repeat the question.  It is correct to say that the reduction in the ROE would -- is part of the settlement agreement that will persist or will be adopted whether or not the Board approves this project?  I believe that was the evidence that was provided.


MR. CLARK:  So I think from a mechanical point of view the settlement isn't conditioned with OEB approval of these facilities, but I want to emphasize the spirit and intent of the agreement, and the alignment of all the outcomes and the positions of the parties is for the settlement to be considered as a whole.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I'm going to take a step back out of the details and focus in again on the number in the TCPL supplemental evidence.  And Mr. Schultz, when I asked you about, you know, what happens to that $400 million revenue short-haul, part of your answer -- shortfall, part of your answer was that it is factored into new rates.


Would it be fair to say that overall the shortfall is made up by being factored into new rates, including the bridging payment?  Is that about right, Mr. Schultz?


MR. SCHULTZ:  So the calculation of the rates that result from the settlement will include a forecast of how much volumes are going to be sourced from short-haul or long-haul sources, and that will result in the tolls that we'll be applying for with the NEB.  So it will include sort of the effects of all of those changes that are anticipated.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I could just maybe add to the response, Mr. Elson.  Mr. Schultz talked about the fact that the 400 million number was calculated on a marginal basis by taking into account simply the contracts related to Enbridge, Gaz Métro, and Union.


In any toll calculation you don't look just at revenue shortfalls, you look at what the revenue requirement is.  So you look at, what does the aggregate of volumes and paths mean in terms of revenues and how does that relate to the revenue requirement.


And it's important to note that the settlement agreement allows for that kind of calculation in the derivation of the toll impacts, which again, as we note elsewhere, consist of two things.  One is ensuring that the costs of the Eastern Ontario Triangle are borne through rates charged to the eastern Ontario volumes, and that accounts for over two-thirds of the rate impact, and the remainder is a bridging contribution associated with the transfer of volumes from long-haul to short-haul.


By way of context, I should just add that in terms of Enbridge Gas Distribution's own volumes, the -- what we have done recently for the next two winters is to take on long-haul firm transportation to essentially meet a seasonal need that prior to this arrangement actually was sourced through short-term arrangements and weren't necessarily viewed as long-haul FT contracts in the revenue requirement calculation.  Thank you.


MR. ELSON:  No, I wouldn't dispute that the tolls would be calculated based on aggregate numbers, and including all of the relevant factors, but my question pertains in particular to the number that you calculated, Mr. Schultz, which is a marginal number, which is the marginal impact on your revenue.


And I'm just wondering what happens with that $400 million, and I believe that it would be accurate to say that that gets factored into the new rates; is that correct, Mr. Schultz?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yeah.  Like, ultimately it won't be 400 anymore in the new world with the settlement, because all of the inputs will have changed.  So the absolute number will be different.  However, the overall effect of people transitioning from long-haul to short-haul will be included in the calculation of the new rates, so I think it's not exactly 400 being used, but it's the overall effect of people sourcing gas from the locations they want to source them, and factoring in the cost of service of the TransCanada Mainline and establishing what the rates are to achieve recovery of those costs.


MR. ELSON:  In other words, the overall effect of people transitioning from long-haul to short-haul, and in particular the potential lost revenue, that gets factored into the new rates; is that right?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Right, in that it's used to create what the rates are.


MR. ELSON:  The second issue raised in the TCPL evidence is the variability of the price differential between Dawn and Empress, and Enbridge's overly optimistic projections.  And I'm going to go back to that briefly.


Now, Mr. Schultz, am I correct in saying that the settlement agreement does not address that issue, the price differential?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.  It's basically the price differential isn't specifically relevant input into TransCanada's determination of new rates and tolls.  That's just a marketplace phenomenon that moves around and changes, and it's sort of the world we live in as opposed to an input into any of our calculations.


MR. ELSON:  So if TCPL's point was correct about the price differential before the settlement agreement, there's nothing in the settlement agreement that would change that, and TCPL's point about the price differential would be correct after the settlement agreement?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I think the marketplace is the marketplace, and I think all we observed through that chart that we were looking at earlier was that over history and time, the price does vary, and that ultimately being able to predict with any certainty what the future marketplace will derive as prices is a challenging activity and is an uncertain one.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just to add to that, Mr. Henning did testify to that basis and some variability around it, and in his Undertaking 3.5 provided some more insight in that direction as well.


But to Mr. Schultz's answer, it is a market-driven number; nothing that we can actually do about it.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I might add, Enbridge has provided several times a range of outcomes based on different basis assumptions, ranging from 50 cents up to a $1.50, including sort of a longer-term average assumption around 80 or 90 cents, but in addition, the different utilization ratios that should be considered within the analysis.


So irrespective of the point estimate that Enbridge originally used, there have been additional scenarios run on a range of different bases and utilization scenarios.  Thank you.


MR. ELSON:  I guess the basic issue that I'm asking that Mr. Schultz agree with me with -- and I believe you have actually -- is just that if the -- TCPL was right before the settlement agreement on that issue, it will be correct afterwards?

MR. SCHULTZ:  I would agree.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  If you could please turn to page 28 of the --


MR. CLARK:  Mr. Elson, I would just like to supplemental me Mr. Schultz's answer.


I think you have to look at these -- the implications of the settlement agreement take into account all of the effects.  So if you -- I don't think you can just peel it apart and say the basis differential is the same before as it was after, with or without the settlement.


You also have to net into the -- because these calculations, these value calculations, all the other attributes that I listed to you before.  So I just don't want that to be overlooked and lost in the conversation.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  The questions were only meant to pertain to the price differential issue.


If you could please turn to page 28 of Environmental Defence's document reference book; this is page 3 of the settlement terms.


In particular, there's a bullet at the bottom of the page that says:

"Lost revenues on short-haul paths will not be used to assess the viability of a new build to serve the market via short-haul."


Could you explain that point to me?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I think you didn't quite read it precisely.


I think it's loss of revenues on long-haul paths.  I think you said short-haul.


But the explanation is that previously -- and I think this is something Mr. Clark was referencing in his opening remarks, was that the -- TransCanada's willingness to add new capital to accommodate short-haul requests for service, we were looking at it from an implication perspective of assessing how our revenues relative to long-haul impacted our overall revenue requirement and our ability to generate revenues.


So this agreement is that we would no longer explicitly use that analysis to assess, from a TransCanada perspective, the viability of proceeding with requests for incremental capacity for short-haul.


So that's what that is intended to mean.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  If you could turn over the page in the document reference book, this is page 8 of the settlement terms.  If I could refer you to the fifth and last bullet point on the page, and I'll read that.  It says:

"TransCanada will support the immediate build of Parkway West, Parkway D, Brantford-to-Kirkwall, and the GTA project as currently proposed, 42 inches from Parkway.  TransCanada will withdraw its intervention in the OEB proceeding and will send a letter to the OEB indicating that as a result of the settlement it now supports the projects."


So my understanding is that of course when TransCanada first submitted its supplementary evidence in August of this year, it opposed this project; is that right?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  And then as a part of the settlement agreement, in exchange for and as a result of the terms that largely make TransCanada whole, TransCanada agreed to support this project; is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I think the settlement as a whole includes more than just that, but in effect one of the things that we do -- we agreed to here to support these projects, but it's what we think is the most efficient and appropriate build-out of that new capacity that we have requests from customers to accommodate.


So part of the original agreement that we had with Enbridge was looking at one consolidated planning endeavour to meet the aggregate needs of all of our shippers, which was the form of the original MOU in these projects in particular, and now with the settlement is basically kind of reverting back to that shared common purpose to the facilities, trying to minimize the overall aggregate costs associated with providing transmission and distribution requirements in the Greater Toronto Area, as well as to eastern Ontario and Quebec markets.


MR. CLARK:  Mr. Elson, you used the phrase "hold TransCanada whole" and that's not an accurate characterization of the settlement.


What the settlement does is it addresses tolling principles or cost recovery principles in essentially two time frames, one through to 2020 and the other post-2020.


Post-2020, TransCanada will be at risk for the recovery of costs -- well, we are responsible for recovery of costs or for -- recovery of costs on both segments, but in particular I want to draw your attention to the Prairies and northern Ontario.


Eastern shippers post-2020 that do not use the Prairies and NOL will have no accountability for those costs.  So you've been using the phrase "keep TransCanada whole", and I don't think that is an accurate characterization.  We'll be exposed to significant risk post-2020 for those residual assets, and short-haul shippers will be relieved of any residual obligation for those -- the costs associated with those facilities.  And that's one of the benefits that the settlement brings to the marketplace, is it transitions us to -- or transitions the marketplace to the world that it appears to want to go to, and that's part of the objective of the settlement.


MR. ELSON:  I'm afraid I don't have actually have time to ask any more questions, so I can't pursue that issue with you any further, and I don't believe I need to.  We can address it through other intervenors and through argument.  I didn't in my question intend to apply that particular characterization to the settlement agreement, but simply make -- ask a question, which is whether -- how you see that term and whether overall one of the benefits that TransCanada provided and put on the table was that it would support these projects.  Is that a fair way to describe the settlement agreement?


MR. SCHULTZ:  It's part of the settlement agreement, was that we would support these particular facilities, because we believe that they do form the appropriate solution to meeting the aggregate needs of both TransCanada and its shippers and Enbridge and their distribution requirements.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.


Mr. Rubenstein, I believe you're next.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


MS. CHAPLIN:  We will take an additional break today.  But maybe you could get started, and if there is a logical place for you to break in about ten minutes, is that -- that would be all right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I had provided a cross-examination compendium I e-mailed to the parties, and I have provided hard copies.


MR. MILLAR:  That should be Exhibit K8.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.5:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want to focus my cross-examination on a number of the undertaking responses that have been provided, and I put them in the compendium, with respect to the estimated tolls that arise from the terms settlement sheet.


And I'd first like to start off with Union Gas.  If we can turn to page 1 of that compendium, which is a response at JT4.5, in which Union was asked to update the analysis for their gas savings costs with the -- to update the analysis for the actual tolls, that being the estimated, or if they are the final tolls that are to be expected to be provided to the NEB.


Now, in part 1(b) Union provided the impact of the TCPL changes arising from the settlement terms sheet on its customers, and it states that TCPL's compliance tolls, so the current TCPL framework, the gas savings costs are $15.4 million a year; is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when Union originally filed, its gas savings costs were estimated to be roughly 28 million?  Am I correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They went through a few different versions, but that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, according to the settlement terms sheet, since a shift from long-haul to short-haul creates a revenue deficiency for TCPL, that amount will be captured through the toll adjustments.  Am I correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In the current environment it would go into the TSA account, and it just gets captured within the tolls.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if we flip the page to page 2, you provided two scenarios, the first being, assuming that all the revenue impact on TCPL is allocated to the Eastern Ontario Triangle; and then the second being, assuming the revenue impact to TCPL is allocated to all shippers on TCPL.


Now, if we can go to the first one with respect to the Eastern Ontario Triangle.  Now, my understanding of this interrogatory -- sorry, this undertaking response is that the deficiency caused the total transportation savings that would accrue would be $35.7 million.  This would be the revenue impact on TCPL?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  This example is one I actually testified to on day four.  This is just sort of the detail behind the numbers I gave on day-four testimony.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's just based on Union's transportation savings?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the idea here would be that since Union's system customers represent 7 percent of the total capacity on the Eastern Ontario Triangle; it would be responsible for 7 percent of that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  And this example is just the transportation cost to the system, if you want, from our movement only, so this is a Union Gas cost only, and then how much of that cost gets borne by Union customers, the 7 percent in the first example.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But since -- so while Union customers will be responsible for their share of the 7 percent, other shippers on the Eastern Ontario Triangle will be responsible for the remaining 93 percent of those gas savings.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for an example, Enbridge customers would pay some portion of that $35.7 million.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, and what I've talked about earlier is, other customers, like the Alberta Northeast Group, the A&E group, who actually went short-haul back in 2006 and -7, we've been paying those shortfalls for the last whatever that would be, I guess, eight years or seven years, so it's kind of what -- the result of any customer going from long-haul to short-haul, the customers left behind are the ones that pick up the cost.  In our case we pick up 7 percent of that, if it was assigned all to the Eastern Triangle.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when we talk about gas savings costs, and there's some gas savings costs because of Union's movement from long-haul to short-haul, other Ontario shippers, which would ultimately flow to Ontario ratepayers, will pick up some of the those gas savings costs.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, and the number we've come up with is -- I think Ontario represents about half the volume on the Eastern Triangle, so -- and it's going to be, obviously -- primarily going to be Enbridge and Union Gas, so Ontario will pick up about half the cost of our switch, and likewise we pick up half the cost of Gaz Métro's switch.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think, if I might just add to this, I think that the appropriate perspective to take on this issue around costs shared by one party become costs borne by other parties is to focus on the fact that as a result of the settlement agreement we don't have a zero-sum game.  We have a positive-sum game.  And we've talked about all the reasons why it's a positive-sum gain, one of which is TransCanada's own contribution to this.


But we should also keep in mind that ultimately what we are doing is we are providing choice and diversity to the market that allows you to access different supply basins, and we have calculated the impact on tolls for the Enbridge franchise as a result of the settlement agreement is 6 cents in the CDA and up to 15 cents in the EDA, and 60 percent of that impact is just ensuring cost recovery.  Less than 40 percent -- or actually a third of it has to do with this bridging contribution.


So when you put it in that context you are paying between 2 cents in the CDA and maybe 5 cents in the EDA for customer choice and diversity, and when you look at the way basis differentials change between different supply points, that -- the basis impact is generally a huge multiple of those kinds of numbers, the 2 cents and the 4 to 5 cents that we're talking about.


In addition, the fact that costs can be recovered in the Eastern Triangle for TransCanada means that you can add new customers.  Mr. Rheaume talked about the addition of a new customer that would be up to 15 percent of the load.  An important barrier to entry is being removed as a result of this.


So these are all the reasons why the settlement agreement goes from being a zero-sum gain to a positive-sum gain, and I think we should definitely take that into account when we look at these very narrow examples.  Thank you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Quickly to the second scenario.  This is the -- assuming that the revenue impact to TCPL is allocated to all shippers on TCPL.  And so the reduction of Union's annual -- sorry, the -- there's a reduction of Union's annual gas savings cost from the $15.4 million to the $9.6 million.  Am I correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Can I just point out -- that is correct.  I just point out, though, this is a bit different example.  This is actually estimating the bridging contribution, and the bridging contribution is picking up all the costs of all the changes happening in '15 and '16.  So this is a change that Enbridge, Gaz Métro and Union Gas, we're all making. It is contributing to what Ms. Giridhar mentioned is sort of the 3- to 5-cent impact to the EDA.


In our case, it's about 3.75 cents, is the impact to our Eastern Triangle shippers.  So that 3.75 cents is picking up all the costs of all the transition, which is different than the first example, which is just the Union Gas cost of our transition.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just at the bottom of that page, that last paragraph, it says that:

"In recent discussions with TCPL, they propose allocating the impact for the conversion to all customers, as assumed in this example."


Am I correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  When I testified on day 4, I wasn't sure if we were doing the first case or the second case.  I'm able to confirm it's more likely the second case.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is more likely that the total gas savings costs will be $9.6 million?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Under that scenario, that's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would now be an appropriate time to take a break?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  Thank you very much.  We will break now for 30 minutes and return, and our plan is to sit til 1:30 today.


--- Recess taken at 11:48 a.m.

--- On resuming at 12:26 p.m.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.


Mr. Rubenstein, whenever you are ready.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


Just going back to page 2 of the compendium, when you calculated these impacts, or the change in the gas savings costs, did you run it through your -- the SENDOUT program that you use to do gas savings costs and other gas
supply --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, we didn't.  This is more of a landed cost type analysis, so it's just a simple one-for-one impact, not run through SENDOUT.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But when you originally determined the gas savings costs going back to the original application, the 28 million, roughly, you did do it using the SENDOUT?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.  The SENDOUT's looking at all the variables in our gas-supply portfolio, but in this case we're just looking at a change in transportation costs, just looking at one element of it, so I'm not sure SENDOUT would have a different answer in this case.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you can't confirm that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would be highly surprised if it was materially different.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to undertake to run the SENDOUT model?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The SENDOUT model is a very complicated model.  We've testified to that.  It's sort of iterative and very lengthy to run.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I mean, to me that seems like a reason why we would want to run it, because it deals with lots of different variables and there's lots of interrelationships that you would normally run when doing this, as you ran originally with the first application.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't think a SENDOUT would address what we're trying to get to here.  We're trying to get to what is the impact on TCPL tolls, and what's our -- what's Union's share of those tolls as a percent of the broader system use.  SENDOUT wouldn't look at that.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I might add, SENDOUT model is really an optimization model, and it's primarily used to determine what the components of the gas-supply portfolio ought to be.  It really has less to do with taking two sets of rates and multiplying it by volume and figuring out what the savings are.  So the SENDOUT model is primarily used to figure out what the gas-supply portfolio should look like in order to minimize cost.


And I would suggest in this case, when you're actually looking at a component of the portfolio and figuring out what the impact of the different rates is, it wouldn't be a good use of the SENDOUT model.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But could there be the case that because the transportation rates have changed, that would change the optimized gas-supply portfolio?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not in Union's north it wouldn't, because Union's north is capped in the TCPL system.  We have to use TCPL system.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, I mean, I'm going to ask the similar question to Enbridge.  Did Enbridge, when it determined its gas savings costs, determine that there is no change in the gas savings costs?  That's my understanding of your evidence; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So what we have done as well is to take the portfolio change under the compliance tolls and applied these indicative tolls to that same portfolio.  And the fact that the differentials are approximately the same would keep us comfortable, in terms of not requiring any changes to that portfolio.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you originally filed and you originally determined the gas savings cost, was that from, partially at least, from the SENDOUT model results?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Actually, that question might be best addressed to the next panel, the Enbridge panel that is to follow tomorrow.  I'll have a gas-supply person on that panel.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So just going back then to Union, I mean -- well, I would like an undertaking -- my under -- to do -- to rerun using the new estimated terms sheet settlement tolls using the SENDOUT model, and...


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Rubenstein, how is that going to help us?  I believe the testimony is that it would not change the supply mix, so what is it that's going to change that's any different than the analysis they did do?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I believe Mr. Isherwood said he can't confirm that there would be no change, and just, my understanding, the model is very complex.  That's why it does take a long time to run it.  There's a lot of different aspects to it, and there are a lot of interrelationships.  That's why there is this model.  And I would just like to confirm that there is no change.  Originally when they -- when the original application was filed the gas savings costs were determined using the SENDOUT model, so it would seem to me that it would be helpful to the Board to see the new tolls using the same method that the original gas savings costs were determined.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  Well, two answers.  The first is Mr. Isherwood has dealt with this, and I don't think that there is an evidentiary foundation for the request.  There was at an earlier time a request, which was denied, for Union to rerun the SENDOUT model, and there was evidence with respect to the utility of doing that, and the Board reached the conclusion it that did.


I don't see why a different result would obtain in this case.  Certainly, Union did use the SENDOUT model before, but if you look at section 11 of Union's evidence in the 0074 case, the reason to use the SENDOUT model is to talk about -- Ms. Giridhar referred to the optimal mix between long-haul and short-haul.  That's not a question that would be changing as a result of this analysis.


So I don't -- unless the witnesses are going to correct me on that point, I don't think that there is any utility in doing this, and I don't think there is an evidentiary foundation for the request.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just before I go back to you, Mr. Rubenstein, Ms. Giridhar, can you confirm what Mr. Smith has said, in terms of what the purpose of the SENDOUT was and...


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, the purpose of the SENDOUT model is to figure out the optimum gas-supply portfolio, in terms of the mix of long-haul and short-haul.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So Mr. Rubenstein, is it your contention that with the new indicative tolls there may be a change in that optimal mix with the consequential effects?  Is that...


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I don't -- clearly they know -- the witnesses know the SENDOUT model better than I do.  But my understanding would be that it's a very complex model, and it may -- there might be very small chance of it -- I don't -- that may be the case, but Mr. Isherwood just couldn't confirm that, and it would seem that if we were -- if this was at an earlier stage of the proceeding, if were interrogatory stages, that would be something that the utilities would be expected to do.  I understand we're late in the proceeding, but the tolls have changed.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  One moment, please.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Isherwood, you were reluctant to commit that there would be no change.  On what basis were you expressing that reluctance, given your familiarity with the model and understanding of its mechanics?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  As Ms. Giridhar mentioned, it really is an optimization model, so I've never actually run it myself.  People in my group do run it, and I know it's a sort of a week-long process, iterative process, to run the model, and in this analysis we're doing here it's really just an incremental analysis, in terms of the impact on a cost change, on one component of it, so it wouldn't change our short-haul/long-haul decision-making, so this analysis was quite outside the scope of having to run SENDOUT.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But when you originally ran the model you had some sort of -- you used an assumption of the toll differential, and did that presumably have some influence on what the mix result was?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So in our eastern delivery area the toll would indicate you would move all of it to short-haul, which is the recommendation we followed.  So the tolls going up like this wouldn't change that assumption.  You would still go all short-haul in the eastern delivery area.  That's why I would be really quite surprised of any change.


So maybe it's the way I answered the question.  But the answer is it would not change the -- going all short-haul.  That would not change.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Because if anything -- because the differential has in fact increased --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Increased, exactly.


MS. CHAPLIN:  -- and since in the original scenario the shift -- the mix was for all short-haul --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Exactly.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  On that basis, the Board is content with the testimony as it stands, as being indicative of the results that would be expected.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


If I can take you to page 5 of our compendium, Union provided a response to an undertaking to FRPO to run the DCF analysis with the anticipated savings.


Mr. Isherwood, can you agree with me that the profitability index, the PI, is to determine if the project is -- sorry, I'll go back.  Can you confirm with me that if the PI index is 1 or greater, then that shows that the project is considered economic, based on current approved rates?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  Or on the various assumptions in the model.  Whatever was in the model would be what that represents.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you look at the interrogatory response, and the first case is attachment 1 and we don't need to turn to that, and that's with the annual gas cost savings of $9.6 million.  In my understanding from your testimony before the break, that's the more expected result?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The PI here is 1.01, so really teetering just above the 1 number for it being profitable at current approved rates?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  This is actually Mr. Hawkins' area of expertise, but as you know, there's different levels of looking at a project.  And the PI above 1 is the first level.  If it gets below 1, there's other levels to look at, and other benefits that it may bring to the province or to the economy.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


Now, turning to Enbridge, if we can turn to Undertaking J6.X, which is on page 14 of our compendium, and in the first paragraph underneath the chart, second sentence, Enbridge has responded:

"While the unit increase in long-haul tolls underpinning this range is higher than the unit increase in short-haul tolls, these increases are based on six-year surcharge recovery for long-haul versus a 15-year surcharge recovery for short-haul.  Over the term of the settlement, the differential in tolls expected to be approximately the same as the differential in compliance tolls."


So is that to mean that while the differential has changed between long-haul and short-haul, this is due to the difference in the length of the timing of the surcharge, and over the term of the settlements the gas savings costs in the evidence won't change?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


Now, with respect to the term -- the settlement sheet and the numbers that's came from it, would I be correct that to determine what the surcharge would have been, you would need to be able to forecast the revenue over that period of time, what the expected revenue would be?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think you would need to know what the revenue requirement is.  The surcharge is being calculated for a six-year period, 2015 to 2020.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But to determine the tolls, you would need to know, as well, what the revenue is?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  To do that, you would also need to determine what the revenue loss would have been to TCPL?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  So these --


Mr. Rubenstein, are you asking me what are all the considerations that's went into the derivation of the bridging contribution and the short-haul tolls?  Or are you asking about the analysis that Enbridge has done here?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just the overall analysis that went into the tolls.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The consideration of the tolls?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The expected tolls.  So my understanding is that if you were determining what the revenue loss would have been to TCPL, you would need to determine what the total revenue loss would be throughout the entire -- through the entire Mainline system; it would not just be with respect to Enbridge and Union and Gaz Métro?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.  The analysis was undertaken by TransCanada.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And to some degree that number would be similar to what would have accumulated in the TSA if there was -- in sort of in the current system?  The TSA is to capture the deficiency in the revenue?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Maybe part of the distinction would be

-- is that to set the new rates, we're no longer sort of doing this comparative scenario, so the context of the TSA is sort of lost.


Effectively, we're trying to establish -- we know what our cost of service requirement is, and we know what our volumes and the paths over which they are expected to flow, so then basically at that point you try to establish what the rates that result from those assumptions become.


So it's not really a lost revenue type comparison or analysis that's being performed.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.


The last thing I would like to talk about -- and I want to switch gears and put aside the settlement terms sheet and the implications that result from that.  I would like to talk about sort of the current world that we live in, which is the compliance tolls that flow out of the Mainline restructuring decision.


TransCanada had filed an amendment to that tariff.  And I've included that, the application, at page 16, beginning of page 16 of our compendium. which was an attachment to a BOMA interrogatory.


And my understanding is that application to amend those tariffs was heard last month and its argument was put forward, and it's currently under reserve; am I correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Whatever the NEB decides, if it's -- if it approves its decision or if it approves the relief sought by TCPL in full or in part, that will make changes to the current landscape, and that becomes the environment in which TCPL and its shippers will operate; am I correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  On a prospective basis, that's correct.  And then to be superseded by certain aspects of the settlement in the ultimate decision that the board will make relative to that application that we're intending to make in November.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Putting aside the settlement agreement or working under the assumption that maybe it's not approved, I just want to understand this application, and specifically with respect to Union and Enbridge.


So if we can turn to page 17 of the compendium, and I -- paragraph 1, it sets tout various reliefs sought by TCPL, and I just want to ask about the relief 1D.  So that would be:

"To amend the renewal provisions associated with firm Mainline services with respect to situations of major expenditure, significant maintenance requirements, or opportunities to re-deploy substantial existing assets."


Now, it's my understanding -- and I'm essentially quoting from paragraph 77 on page 34 -- that this would mean that:

"A shipper with an expiring contract would either extend their contract to a minimum term not to exceed 10 years for long-haul paths, and not to exceed 15 years for short-haul paths to be determined by TransCanada, giving consideration to the parameters, the opportunities before it to avoid costs or reduce facilities; or, 2, continue their existing contracts subject to annual renewals up to the final renewal termination."


That's a correct -- that encompasses the relief sought?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was TransCanada's application.  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is that eastern LDCs oppose this application and oppose this relief; would I be correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The three LDCs plus IGUA combined, under the market areas shippers, en masse, intervened in this case.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you tell me sort of in a general sense what was the basis for the opposition to that relief?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the proposal that we brought forward was really more around in cases of major expenditures, we would be agreeable to have five-year extension of contracts, rather than up to ten years, and not a differentiation between short-haul/long-haul, sort of just five years.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I -- and I just want to under -- sort of the question I want to get to is, putting aside the settlement agreement, if the NEB approves that TransCanada's reliefs, specifically with respect to renewals, how would that affect Union's ability to switch from long-haul to short-haul?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, not only Union, it would affect all shippers, to the extent that you have a contract now that's going year to year, and suddenly you have to, because of expansion activity, need to term out up to ten years, that would limit your ability to move.  It limits the market's opportunity.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But specifically, if in some way the downstream facilities are built and the plan is from Union to ship from long-haul to short-haul, how would this affect its ability to actually do that, if any?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The downstream facilities don't get built unless the settlement agreement gets approved, right?  TCPL is not proposing to build downstream facilities in the current environment without settlement.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand, but say we -- and I don't think anyone wants it, but we head to a more -- we head to sort of the world we lived in before the settlement agreement, and those facilities did get built.  I just want to understand, if the NEB approves it, what -- does it change Union's ability to actually shift its long-haul to short-haul?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of this application, the application is based on the 2015 facilities, and I say it would not.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the same question to Enbridge?  And you...


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I should just explain --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Oh, sure.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- because the extent that -- the term can only be extended if TCPL had a major expansion happening, and that would be always two or three years out, so I think between now and 2015 it wouldn't affect our ability to get the '15 build done.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Even with the proposed Energy East project?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Energy East would be '17, '16-'17 time line, so '15, I think, is fine.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the same question to Enbridge.  Would there be any effect on its --


MR. SCHULTZ:  Maybe if I can just jump in a little bit.  So the context of that provision that's proposed by TransCanada is to only be put into effect in the circumstances that were outlined of new build, major expenditures, redeployment of assets.  So absent one of those triggers, there's no change from the status quo of parties having their existing contract terms.  And then to the extent that something did happen, it would only be applicable to the contracts on that path.


So in the example of new build in the corridor, the facilities that we're contemplating in this facility, it would only affect contracts that would otherwise be currently deemed to be short-haul contracts, so there would be -- you would be increasing the term to a minimum threshold for the contracts on the short-haul, but the long-haul paths would actually not be affected.


So each circumstance is assessed uniquely.  It's not a global change to all contracts, so to the extent you had a long-haul contract that only had a one-year term, it would stay on a one-year term, because it wasn't using the flow path that we're building or adding new capacity on.


So that's the feature of that attribute that we requested.  Of course, if the settlement is approved we've also got a provision in there that allows for shippers even that might have extended a long-haul contract to change to a short-haul path, and that's one of the provisions that we agreed to in the settlement.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just going back to my question, does Enbridge -- does this have any effect on Enbridge's supply changes that it is expecting because of the construction of its various projects?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So the answer to that is no, because -- let's look at it from the perspective of what we're doing in the GTA versus what we might want to do in the EDA as a result of the settlement agreement.  So in terms of our GTA requirements, I think I've said it numerous times, that the short-haul contracts that are being contemplated for the GTA project are really displacing discretionary arrangements that we used to have.  These were non-renewable, short-term, firm, peaking kind of arrangements which, in the new current environment, are neither reliable nor cost-effective, so we are looking at a transition step for a couple of years of taking FT long-haul, which we do know we'll be utilizing at a very low load factor.


In terms of the EDA, the volumes that we are contemplating shifting from long-haul to short-haul actually are volumes that have been deemed non-renewable at this point in time.  So actually, you know, these are not FT long-haul contracts that have renewable rights.  They do not have renewable rights.  Again, they are discretionary volumes that we have used to meet the seasonal needs in the Ottawa area.


And so the answer to your question is that in our view this provision does not prevent us from the intent of gas supply changes that we are contemplating as a result of the GTA facilities.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Mr. Quinn?  I believe you are next.


MR. QUINN:  Yes, and I trust maybe -- speaking with the help of our friends from CME and their contribution of 15 minutes of their time to me, that my estimate is 45 minutes, and I would be very prepared to stop at 1:30, though, to accommodate with the Board's stop at that time.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, let's see if you can pretty much get it done by then.

MR. QUINN:  And I will -- we'll go to 1:30 and then check in with you at that point.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, panel.  For those who don't know me, I'm Dwayne Quinn, representing the Federation of Rental Housing Providers of Ontario.  And we have -- one of the witnesses talked about the evolution of where we've come from and where we are.  I'm not going to spend too much time on where we were, but I want to say that prior to the outset of the oral proceeding many parties were concerned about the level of uncertainty and were considering motions even to adjourn this proceeding until more clarity was established.


I think we were all comforted by the settlement agreement, but at the same time we have been trying to seek better understanding of the impact to Ontario specifically in this proceeding.


So I want to go from that framework and try to work through some of what we've heard to this point and hopefully understand it better.


So with the settlement terms sheet in place, my understanding is some of that uncertainty was removed.  I guess I would like to start with TransCanada.


Can I ask TransCanada if you would agree with me that this deal decreases the level of uncertainty in the market and your opportunity for revenue recovery?


MR. CLARK:  Yes, I believe the settlement increases the level of certainty that the -- that TransCanada and all Mainline stakeholders face, as well as the markets in eastern Canada.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Now, I -- well, actually -- and it might be easiest.  I had alerted the people monitoring our screens to bring up J4.5, but I think it's right in Mr. Rubenstein's compendium we were just referring to.  So I think if the witness panel has it they can turn it up most easily through that.


And I wanted to focus specifically on the section of J4.5B, as I understand it, on page 2, at first, and then come forward from there to make sure I understand what numbers we were provided.


I think, Mr. Isherwood, I heard you confirm that to the best of your knowledge at this point B is the scenario that we should look at as being the most reasonable outcome of how tolls will be established using this surcharge that is imbedded in the settlement sheet?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That is correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you have provided some figures which provided analysis on an incremental basis, but then if we flip over the page to page 3 of 4, and we have expected tolls, and there's two sets of tolls provided at 45 percent increase and at 55 percent increase.


Now, first my most important question is, how were these -- well, first off, were these toll increases calculated based upon a reasonable scenario that Union foresees for 2015 and beyond?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The 45 percent case and the 55 percent case are numbers that we received from TransCanada, and at this point in time, Mr. Quinn, we're just looking at tolls from percentage basis, so there's really three cases:  A short-haul toll increase, which in these two cases is 45 or 55, and then long-haul to all points upstream of Eastern Triangle has a percentage increase, which is in the footnote below, and then the long-haul to Eastern Triangle had a different percentage applied.


So just simply taking the compliance tolls, which are known today, and then applying those different percentage increases.


MR. QUINN:  And maybe this question, then, is best for TransCanada.  Were these tolls actually calculated with forecasted throughputs, and if so, for what year?


MR. SCHULTZ:  So I think this is analysis that still underway.  We're still working to refine these numbers, but the rates that ultimately we've been quoting here are not for a single year; they are a six-year levellized rate for the period of 2015 to 2020.  So it doesn't -- it's sort of the -- what's imbedded in those calculations is the forecasted throughputs, the amount coming short-haul or long-haul that might change over time through that six-year time frame, and then basically a levellized toll is the end result.


So that's the work that we're still working on, to try and finalize these numbers.  That's were why the numbers aren't final yet.


MR. QUINN:  Are you saying these are just representative or indicative figures, and not calculated figures?


MR. SCHULTZ:  They were based on some early analysis that we're refining and continue to adjust the inputs.  So I think they are indicative but they are not a finalized result.


MR. CLARK:  Mr. Quinn, I'd just like to provide a bit of an explanation that I think might be of value to the Board.


When we look at the compliance tolls, those are the tolls that the NEB put in place to the end of 2017.  And in our evidence we've talked about the short-haul tolls not recovering the costs of the Eastern Triangle.  And so when you compare the tolls in either the 45 or 55 percent case versus the compliance toll, you might naturally say:  Well, gee, let's go to the bottom, the Parkway-to-Union CDA, 10 cents under the compliance tolls and then 14 or 15 in each of the 45 and 55 percent case, respectively.  People might jump to conclusions and say:  Well, gee, that's a 4- or 5-cent or a 40 or 50 percent increase for that particular path.


I think one of the things to keep in mind is that the compliance tolls are in place 'til 2017, that these tolls wouldn't go into place until 2015.  But a large part of that have change between the 10 cents and the 14 cents is actually just to get the Eastern Triangle to a cost-recovery scenario.  It's in the order of two-thirds of that delta, is just getting back to cost recovery.


And the message I would like to leave with you is that I don't expect that it is reasonable for those compliance tolls to stay at that 10-cent level once you get past 2017.  I don't think the regulator would expect us to continue to charge costs at less than cost for any extended period.  Obviously that's not a sustainable model for any business.


So when you look at the magnitude of the change between compliance and each of those -- or the two columns to the right there, on those short-haul tolls, about two-thirds-ish of the change is just getting us back to cost recovery.


The balance of that change, the one-third of that, which in that last line is a 1- to 2-cent change, is really the bridging contribution for the -- based on the principle structured in the settlement.


So I just want to make that clear, because I don't think it's sustainable to expect that differential between the compliance tolls and the settlement tolls to be perpetuated beyond 2017.  In fact, they wind up earlier –- the compliance tolls may change earlier than that, based on the way the NEB decision is structured and some of the off-ramps contained in that decision.


MR. RHEAUME:  If I can add something to, I guess, demonstrate that that is not just TransCanada's perspective here, LDCs have, over the last few proceedings at the NEB, on numerous occasion mentioned that the Eastern Triangle is a vibrant system, that there is a need for more capacity.


We have no expectations that TransCanada would be asked to share a -- some kind of a part of the burden for under-earnings associated with the Eastern Triangle, because, I mean, we've always defended cost-based models and there is no reason right now to justify that the Eastern Triangle shouldn't be tolled on a cost-based basis.


And therefore we do believe that if there is some under-earnings that get accumulated in some kind of deferral accounts, that would have to be reviewed by the NEB by 2017.


Costs associated with the Eastern Triangle would have to be paid by eastern shippers, and that is just coherent with the regulatory principles.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you for the fulsome answer.  I respect that not all of you have been present in the hearing to this point, but a lot that was covered with previous panels.  And in respect to the time that I have, I'm going to try to stay focused, and if you could help me with this.


Underpinning the model, then, I would like to understand the assumptions that were made.  My understanding -- and you were providing to us -- that this -- two-thirds of that toll increase was just to get you back to cost recovery.  Then there's going to be rolled-in aspects of additional facilities in the Eastern Triangle; is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's right.  Estimates for future capital through that time frame are also going to be embedded in the tolls that were going to result.


MR. QUINN:  Are those included in these projected toll increases?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.  In the analysis that we're doing right now, we've made estimates for the Kings North and the additional facilities that we would expect, beyond 2015, that we will build as well, to accommodate future requests for service for short-haul.


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Schultz, you keep saying this:  The analysis we're doing right now.


I'm referring to the analysis that's done on this -- for this undertaking.  Were the costs of incremental facilities in the Eastern Triangle included in the derivation of these toll impacts?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So can you tell me, then -- my understanding is if you have this additional contribution made in the Eastern Triangle, your projecting to eliminate the TSA through this tolling methodology; is that correct?


Or if not, please explain what assumptions were made about the TSA in these tolls.


MR. SCHULTZ:  So the TSA has a current balance in it today, and that balance will effectively be rolled into the cost of service commencing in 2015, whatever that balance is at that point.  So we're having to project forward what we expect the balance to be.


As well, we haven't talked about it but there's an LTAA, a long-term adjustment account balance, that also is being recovered through the tolls.


MR. QUINN:  That's what I was getting to.  So both the TSA and LTAA are included, and would actually in -- in the range of tolls provided, both TSA and LTAA would be covered off, such that there is no residual balance expected in those accounts at the end of the term of this agreement?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's not quite true.  The LTAA is recovered at the aggregate or composite depreciation rate, so even at the end of the term of 2030, there would still be a residual amount in the LTAA account to be recovered.  So it's amortized over an extended period of time, so that's -- it doesn't get to zero.  It's not a sort of normal or traditional deferral account in that regard.


MR. QUINN:  So said differently –- and I realize we haven't spent a lot of time on the LTAA -- the LTAA is the under-recovery that TransCanada currently has in its rates, that it's been approved by the Board to be put into rate base and recovered and amortized over this longer period of time; is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  I just want to make sure we have that for the record here.


In the development of these figures -- and possibly this more is to Union.  Well, I'm going to ask the question.


Was there NIT-to-Dawn differential used at all in establishing any of these numbers?


MR. SCHULTZ:  No, it's not one of the inputs into this calculation.  This is a cost of service, and the billing determinants being the transportation revenues that are being generated by the pipeline, TransCanada Mainline.  The actual cost of commodity is not included in our calculations.


MR. QUINN:  That's what I assumed, but I just want to make sure we had that clear.


Another question, then, and I presume it's not, but I want to clarify it for the record.  There has been some indication in the transcript earlier, and we're aware of it through other communication from Enbridge, that Enbridge is moving to contracting an additional 170 tJs this winter of annualized FT.


I presume that that forecast of volume is not included in these figures?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's getting to a level of detail I don't know, in terms of we did make assumptions based on collaboration with the three LDCs around what volumes we should assume they will contract for.  We've had to do make our own assumptions around what volumes.  We know what we have for current contracts, but we've also had to make assumptions around future contracting behaviours out to 2020 and use those values as well.


So I don't have details on what the specifics of each of those assumptions are.  All I know is that that's kind of the methodology that we're using.


MR. QUINN:  You work with the utilities -- oh, I'm sorry, Ms. Giridhar.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I'm able to --


MR. QUINN:  Yeah, thank you.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  -- respond to that question.  So Enbridge did provide volumes, projected volumes, for our franchise from 2015 to 2020, and we obviously assumed that the GTA project would be approved and that the gas-supply portfolio underpinning the GTA project was provided as a forecast to TransCanada, so any of the incremental FT -- long-haul FT contracting that we are doing for 2014 and 2015 will be shown as short-haul from either Niagara or Dawn, in these numbers.


MR. QUINN:  At what point, sorry?  What point do you move from short-haul long --

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, the GTA project facilities are assumed to be in place as of November 1, 2015, so as of November 1, 2015 we'd be showing the short-haul volumes.


MR. QUINN:  And so the 178,000 tJs I referred to before, you are familiar with your move to an annualized contract.  Was what 170,000 provided as part of your forecast for 2013-'14?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't know that it was provided specifically, but we would have -- my understanding is we provided them our -- what we needed to firm up for the winters of 2014 and 2015 via long-haul, and so that would have included the 170 and everything else that we have firmed up as well.


MR. QUINN:  Would have included?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  For 2014.  It's not relevant to the calculation of these tolls, because they're from 2015.


MR. QUINN:  I'm sorry, I thought I was following you.  Can you repeat that last part again?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So this is -- these tolls are in effect from January 2015 to 2020.  And the additional contracting that we are doing right now is for this upcoming winter, 2013-2014, and then for 2014-2015.


November 1, 2015 we assume the GTA project is in place, and therefore we have the short-haul volumes in the forecast that were provided to TransCanada.


MR. QUINN:  So did you move then to a 13 percent system-gas volume on the long-haul for your forecast?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We have resumed the retention of all of our existing long-haul volumes for the purposes of this analysis, so our long-haul volume's approximately 300 tJs per day prior to the additional contracting that we've done for displacement of discretionary volumes.  We assumed that those volumes continue into the future.


MR. QUINN:  But I asked about --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It's a number above 13 percent.  It's slightly above 13 percent, but it's -- we have assumed that our historic reliance on long-haul FT will continue from 2015 to 2020.  Our focus has really been on the discretionary volumes for both the CDA and the EDA that we've been forced to contract long-haul FT for, because we can't rely on that service any more, and those volumes have been provided to TransCanada as short-haul.


I'm sorry, I sense some confusion there.


MR. QUINN:  Well, I think what you said is not answering the question.  My understanding is that you have the ability to move down to 13 percent of your system-gas portfolio being provided on long-haul and TransCanada.  What percentage was assumed for the purposes of these calculations?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, the -- I don't have the exact percentage because, as you know, we are still in the process of finalizing the calculation.  What was provided to TransCanada was a retention of 300 tJs a day of long-haul FT over the 2015-to-2020 period, and that 300 tJs was -- has been our historic long-haul FT volumes over a significant amount of time, prior to the recent additional firming-up we had to do.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, one of the things that we've been trying to provide to this Board is an understanding of the potential rate impacts, and reading the terms sheet as it is, you have the opportunity to go down to 13 percent of your system-gas volumes, both you and Union Gas and Gaz Métro, I presume?


MR. RHEAUME:   That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So now, with that 13 percent in place, can we get this scenario rerun with 13 percent system-gas volumes as long-haul and the rest as short-haul to find out what the indicative tolls would be?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think it's not relevant to what we're doing here, Mr. Quinn.  What the terms sheet has established as a target is that we would persevere to have short-haul tolls go up by no more than 50 percent.  That is the objective.


So, you know, the whole purpose is to make sure that the three LDCs and TransCanada work together to retain enough long-haul volumes on the system to ensure the financial reliability of the TransCanada system and manage the rate impacts for our customers through this transition period where we are accepting additional cost responsibility for recovery of costs in the TransCanada Mainline.


So it would be an entirely theoretical exercise for us to calculate, for example, that the short-haul toll impact would be higher than 50 percent if we all came down to the bare 13 percent minimum, because the intent is to manage the short-haul toll impacts as well.  That's why it's a transition.  It's a structured transition.


MR. QUINN:  Excuse me, to the extent you believe it's a theoretical exercise, my understanding is you have presented to the Board the economic advantage of moving to short-haul.  My concern is, do we have a matching of the assumptions you made for your economics and the assumptions that were made for the development of these potential toll impacts?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I can confirm that we will be retaining 13 percent or more on long-haul.


MR. QUINN:  And I guess that's not my question.  My question is, whatever was assumed and was provided TransCanada for the purposes of generating these representative tolls is consistent with the economic benefits that both Union and Enbridge have produced for economic analysis to demonstrate that these projects are economic.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, it is.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And I can confirm the same for Union Gas.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Turning to you, Mr. Isherwood, is that 13 percent then for Union Gas?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  All this hearing is about, really, Mr. Quinn, is 2015, so for 2015 we are -- the numbers are in our evidence, but we -- shifting long-haul to short-haul of 70 a day into -- into the EDA and 10 into the NDA, and our economics are based on that assumption, though the same numbers that TransCanada has built into their model, and that's the same numbers built into our gas-cost savings.  So it is confirmed.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Maybe what we can do is move to the next section, because I believe if this is deemed to be a theoretical exercise, I want to understand how it doesn't meet a practical reality.  So the next undertaking that Mr. Rubenstein's compendium has is J4.6.  And it's on page 6 of his compendium.  Thank you.


So if I'm understanding what you're providing, Mr. Isherwood, is when you calculate these or when Union has calculated these net present values, you are using only the 70,000 and 10,000 you referred to to your respective delivery areas?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  And what differential did you presume as the NIT-to-Dawn differential to come up with these figures?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our gas-cost savings are based on a 91 cent -- actually Empress -- Union Gas and Enbridge and Gaz Métro use Empress to Dawn, and the number it uses, 91 or 92 cents.  I forget, 92 cents?


MR. QUINN:  Ninety-two cents was my recall.  But Mr. Elson's compendium -- I don't think we need to turn it up
-- showed a considerable variability between NIT and Dawn differentials over time.  Would you agree with me that 92 cents may be an average but it's certainly not a static figure?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the average -- the recent average is around 75 cents, so 92 is a forecast number we got from ICF, and in their 3.5 undertaking, J3.5, just filed a few days ago, I think they confirmed 91.  So I call it the same number.  They went back and confirmed 91.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you're saying this is an average, but you're agreeing with me that it's not a static figure?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Ninety-one is actually a forecast.  Ninety-two is actually a forecast.  The average is more in the range of 75 or thereabouts, in the last four or five years.


MR. QUINN:  So if the average were 75 -- and I respect your knowledge in this area, Mr. Isherwood -- would you agree with me that at 75 cents the PI would probably be less than 1?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be higher, actually.


MR. QUINN:  Why would that be?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Because the savings are higher.  The lower the basis the higher the savings.  And every 10 cents is about $2 million, so 75 cents would be approximately $4 million higher.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And then -- thank you for clarifying that.  If the basis were a dollar, the PI would go below 1, correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  So in answering Mr. Rubenstein's question previously, you said that there were other considerations.  To the extent that PI isn't one, there were other considerations to be able to look at whether a project is in the public interest; is that a reasonable paraphrase of what you said?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  So is Union satisfied that there is sufficient evidence on the record to determine these factors would fall in favour of the project if the actual PI, once the term settlement sheet is developed, if the PI resulted in something less than one, is Union satisfied that there is enough evidence on the record for the Board to determine these projects are in the public interest?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think Union Gas and Enbridge have spent a fair bit of time discussing the benefits of the settlement, including the opening access to Dawn and to Niagara and to security of supply issues.  There's a number of benefits have been discussed at great length.


MR. QUINN:  So that's a yes?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's a yes.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Okay.  Now, what was troubling me at this juncture -- and I have a better understanding of how you developed the  potential toll impacts, but what I think I heard is that at the end of –- at the end of the primary term of this agreement, up until 2020, there will be -- both long-haul and short-haul will be paying a bridging mechanism surcharge; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  At the same time, beyond 2020 there is
a -- at that point there will not be the same conditions in place.  In other words, that only long-haul will be bearing costs of the total cost recovery for TransCanada; is that a fair way of saying it?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not sure I understand your question, Mr. Quinn.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then maybe I'll ask you to provide understanding to myself and to the Board.  In 2020, one of the premises of Union Gas's position in these matters is that long-haul and short-haul tolls will go up by the same amount.  At the end of 2020, as I understand it, this agreement says the Eastern Ontario Triangle is no longer responsible for the recovery of costs for the rest of the TransCanada system.  Therefore they will not be paying for any changes or additional recoveries that are required as a result of TransCanada's activity up beyond 2020.  So in other words, the differential, the amount that is added to short-haul and long-haul tolls, will not necessarily be the same in 2021; would you agree with that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  What we have testified to earlier is the bridging contribution for long-haul and short-haul is approximately the same.  What's happening in the tolls in 4.5 is it's being amortized over six years for long-haul, which is why long-haul has a higher unit cost increase than short-haul, but the bridging contribution for short-hauls continues on for 16 years.


So there really is a difference in the amortization period between long-haul and short-haul, but generally speaking, it would be about the same amount over the term of the agreement.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think it's important to note, Mr. Quinn, that post-2020, whether it's long-haul to the Eastern Triangle or short-haul, there is no responsibility for the other parts of the system that are not being utilized.


So I think the way you phrased your question left us with the impression that you were attributing the differential to cost responsibility for the other parts of the system.  No, the differential is a function of the amortization.  And assuming cost responsibility from 2015 to 2020 only.


MR. QUINN:  Only til 2020?  Then describe for us what would happen in 2021 to that differential.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The different -- oh, between long-haul and short-haul?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We don't know the rates beyond 2020 rate; right?  We know the amortization of the bridging contribution will continue for short-haul.  And we know the Eastern Triangle will be segmented from the rest of the system, will have tolls based on Eastern Ontario Triangle costs only and throughput only, which are all very positive parts of the settlement.


MR. QUINN:  I understand that you would view it that way, but are you not -- would you not agree with me there
-- I think you just said.  There is uncertainty as to what the tolls will be in 2021.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's seven years out.  Like, you have to expect there'd be uncertainty seven years out or eight years out.


MR. QUINN:  But at the same time, your DCF analysis is a 30-year analysis?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's always assuming the current tolls.  That's all you can do, really, right?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  And I think we have term settlement sheet that lays out changes in responsibility for under-recovery that changes in 2021.


And I guess my question is:  Was that taken into account in the development of this DCF analysis?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The DCF analysis assumes the current tolls, Mr. Quinn.  As we've said, we have no idea what the long-haul tolls are going to be post-2020, and for the most part our costs in this analysis are short-haul costs, and
-- sorry, are independent and separate of long-haul costs post-2020.


So I'm not sure why we would try to incorporate or how we would incorporate those costs.


MR. QUINN:  Well, I think that there are some possible ways of doing that, and I certainly will walk through this with you in a way, hopefully, we can understand that.


We have asked a number of times what the impact to this agreement will be of Energy East, and to this point have not been satisfied that we understand that there is any agreement between TransCanada and the utilities as to how Energy East and any potential shortages of transportation to the east will be managed.


Would you -- and TransCanada's here now to speak to it, so can TransCanada give us their view of what -- how Energy East will impact the TransCanada system and the ability to deliver to the east?


MR. CLARK:  So first of all, I want to emphasize that Energy East is not part of the scope of this proceeding or in the settlement agreement.


However, I will tell you that, as I mentioned in my opening remarks, that TransCanada is in the gas transmission business.  And to the extent there are firm markets that would like service from TransCanada, either with or without Energy East, we'll make sure that that service is available for the marketplace.


MR. QUINN:  And that, if I understand it, could mean
-- and this has been presented previously -- that there may be a shortfall to the east in the order of 2- to 300 tJs to the east if -- with the current level of contracting?


MR. CLARK:  With the current level of contracts, if all the existing firm contracts renew, there would be a couple hundred million a day shortfall, we expect.


However, we don't know whether or not the existing firm contracts will renew or not.  So that is something that remains to be seen.


MR. QUINN:  And just so we have it for the record, the 200 million you said was equivalent to 200 tJs that I said?


MR. CLARK:  That's correct.  I speak in British units.  I guess you speak in metric.


MR. QUINN:  Fair enough.  In that regard, my understanding, then, is that there are -- there have been proposals as to how that addition -- those new facilities would be rolled into tolls, and if I understand, part of what TransCanada could have the potential to do is to roll that into eastern tolls to make up eastern deliveries; is that correct?


MR. CLARK:  That's a possibility, but there would also be the collateral benefit of pulling out infrastructure in the Prairies and the NOL.  And the costs associated with that would be factored into the calculations and the consequential rate impacts to eastern markets.


So it's too early to tell where that will land.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The case you are going down, Mr. Quinn, we've had those discussions amongst the four parties, and that's why it's excluded from this agreement.  We just haven't got agreement on how that would all be treated.


MR. CLARK:  Mr. Quinn, I would like to add that if and when the Energy East application comes forward, it will be subject to full scrutiny through a National Energy Board proceeding, and I have no doubt that there will be folks in the room who have an interest in participating in that process.


MR. QUINN:  Well, there may be folks in the room that can be part of the process, but in respect -- the Ontario ratepayers may be underrepresented in those proceedings.  The utilities are -- will be there on our behalf, and so I guess my desire here would be to recognize that in the second year of what will be a 16-year deal, a fundamental change will happen in how -- may happen in how TransCanada meets the delivery requirements of the Eastern Triangle.


And I'm hearing from the parties that because it's such a contentious issue it's not part of the settlement sheet.  So we should, as Ontario people, accept that eventually the right thing would be done and that we won't have a significant rate impact as a result?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I think the one other comment I would make is the effects of what we do with Energy East are going to be the same either way, whether or not we do this or not.  So I think that they're two separate issues, and the bearing or the influence of what occurs as a result of Energy East really doesn't change the effect of these facilities in the sense of saying to meet incremental short-haul requirements, to meet the market's desire to change to different supply sources, is independent of what we're planning to do or will do one way or the other with Energy East.


MR. QUINN:  But you would agree with me that that could end up with an increase in short-haul rates for the Eastern Triangle, the Energy East project.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Could be an increase, there could be a  decrease.  We don't know.


MR. CLARK:  Mr. Quinn, you described this as a contentious issue, and, you know, there inevitably will be components that are contentious, but it's also largely due to the fact that we don't have a lot of transparency to what the world looks like, in terms of firm commitments at this point in time.  That will be dealt with in due course as we develop the project.  But I just -- I'm not sure we can provide much more information than that at this point.


MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess our concern -- and for the record, there are diminishing economics as evidenced in this J4.6 under what we do now know, and to the extent that there is a lot things we don't know about what's going to happen as early as the second year of the 16-year agreement, I would have to conclude that there's going to be some variability around the actual savings and the resulting PI.


I'm satisfied that you can't provide anything much further.  I'm going to consider your answers.  I still have 15 or 20 minutes left, but I could ask one more set of questions, if I may.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Well, Mr. Quinn, you requested 45 minutes, and you've had 40 now, so could you not complete in sort of ten minutes?


MR. QUINN:  I can try to, but with the answers I've received and the explanations I have it has been difficult, so I will be as concise as possible.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  And we will also remind the witnesses that to the extent that you've provided testimony on prior days you do not need to repeat it today.  Thank you.


MR. QUINN:  I'm going to move to a slightly different area, because I continue to hear TransCanada's opportunity to recover its costs, and the contribution it's making by lowering its return on equity from 11-and-a-half percent to 10.4 percent.


Would you agree with me that the 11.5 percent was provided by the National Energy Board in recognition of the different business risk that TransCanada would face under the toll mechanism that the National Energy Board put in place?


MR. CLARK:  First of all, Mr. Quinn, I would just like to correct something you said at 11.5 dropping to 10.4.  That is incorrect.  It's 11.5 dropping to 10.1 percent of ROE.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. CLARK:  I think we can agree with you that the NEB awarded that rate of return based upon the restructuring proposal decision that it rendered.


MR. QUINN:  And I think you agreed with me earlier that this deal reduces your risk in terms of meeting your revenue requirement.  Is that what I heard before?


MR. CLARK:  I think I could say that it helps reduce risk in certain respects, but it actually catalyzes other risks that we're prepared to take on.  For example, as I mentioned earlier today, post-2020 we will no longer be making the argument that eastern shippers that do not use the Prairies and NOL lines, we won't be arguing that they have accountability for those costs.  That is a material risk that we are taking on, and I would say increases our risk from the position that we feel we sit in today.


So there are puts and takes around the arrangement, and I don't think we can distil this down into a simple statement of whether the risk is higher or lower.  It's very much in the eye of the beholder.


MR. QUINN:  And the ultimate decider to that will be NEB.  So to the extent that the NEB does reject the settlement agreement because it determines that the 11.5 was provided under a different business risk scenario and is not satisfied the 10.1 represents the same level of risk that the parties would expect, would TransCanada continue to work with the utilities under the principles of this agreement to come up with a level of return on equity that is satisfactory to the NEB and to all parties?


MR. CLARK:  First of all, Mr. Quinn, I think you are mischaracterizing the settlement.  If you go to a settlement agreement, on page 2 you'll see there is a band of return on equity that can be achieved here, and there's a floor of 8.7 percent.


So suggesting that there's a floor of 10.1 is not accurate.  TransCanada is contributing a $20 million after-tax contribution as part of this, as well as the reduction to 10.1 ROE.


MR. QUINN:  We understand that.  That's what's written in the agreement, but on page 9 of the agreement it says in the event that settlement agreement is not approved by the NEB the settlement will terminate three months following the NEB's decision.  The party will follow one of two paths below during the 90 days, and that is -- the first bullet says:

"file a mutually acceptable revised settlement proposal that considers the NEB's reasons for non-approval for the first settlement proposal".


So in the scenario I created the NEB has decided that 10.1 as the basis for making rates moving forward is not -- does not reflect the level of business risk as a result of this settlement agreement.


Will TransCanada continue to work with the utilities under the principles of this agreement to come up with a level that is acceptable to the NEB and to the parties?


MR. CLARK:  I think we will work with the parties to find an alternative solution that is mutually acceptable, and we'll have to take into consideration whatever views the Board provides to us in their decision.


MR. QUINN:  And turning to the utilities, will the utilities work on behalf of ratepayers to find a lower level of return on equity?  What position will the utilities take relative to TransCanada's desire for 10.1 versus the NEB's decision that 10.1 does not reflect the business risk?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would at the time, Mr. Quinn, depend upon the guidance that we get from the NEB, and we'd go back to discuss that with TransCanada, but Mr. Clark mentioned it would be a four-way discussion and trying to find something that's mutually agreeable.


MR. RHEAUME:  If I may just add a very quick comment.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Go ahead.


MR. RHEAUME:   Very quick.  At least from Gaz Métro's perspective, but I'm sure it's shared by the other LDCs, we think that TransCanada is entitled to a fair and a just and reasonable rate of return, and if -- and we'll follow the board's lead in regards to fixing that rate of return, but trying to pick and choose certain elements that could potentially be refused by the NEB is a dangerous game.  I mean, there are certain elements of this agreement that if the board was to refuse, for example, saying that the Eastern Triangle is not independent of the Prairies and northern Ontario past 2020, we would have an issue with that.


So, I mean, if we're going to try to single elements that if they are refused will you keep collaborating, we're going to keep trying to get to a solution that is for the public interest.


But I just think it's only fair from TransCanada's perspective to know that this agreement is a total package, and picking and choosing is a dangerous game, I think.


MR. QUINN:  Well, I wouldn't necessarily characterize it as picking and choosing.  In essence, Ontario ratepayers are going to be responsible for whatever the cost consequences are of this resulting deal.  We have talked about some of the uncertainty that faces us, even including Energy East, in the second year of the deal, and yet we can't improve upon the numbers you have so far, even though the PI is very close to 1.0.


So we are very concerned that there is a fair amount of uncertainty, and we don't have a terms settlement sheet which was supposed to be in place, as I understood, for us to speak to here.


So I'm trying to understand what implications there may be as being bound by the terms settlement sheet, and in doing that I want to turn to one more point in terms of diversion rights.


The page 5 in that same settlement sheet talks about that TransCanada will seek -- in the third bullet -- will seek as part of an NEB approval settlement agreement to implement diversion rates changes as soon as reasonable (sic) possible after approval is granted prior to January 2015.


Is TransCanada going to make those changes to the diversion rates part of this settlement agreement?  Or if they are going to wait until after this has been approved by the NEB, why would you be delaying putting those changes, diversion rates, right into this agreement?


MR. SCHULTZ:  So maybe you misunderstood that clause.  So part of the settlement is an agreed-upon change to the diversion rights, and what we've agreed to here is that we will apply for those changes as part of the application to the NEB that we're intending to make before the end of this year, and what we've committed to as part of this agreement is that we will also request from the NEB that while the majority of this settlement is to be in effect from January 1st, 2015 onward that diversion rights would actually be implemented as quickly as we possibly could after receiving approval of the change from the NEB, so prior to.  So that it would, in fact, be implemented as quickly as possible once the NEB has approved the implementation of those new terms.

MR. QUINN:  Will it be part of the application that includes a settlement?

MR. SCHULTZ:  That is what I just said, yes.  It would.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just trying to get clarity.

The last thing I'll refer to -- and I did submit a compendium, which is essentially the written argument of Union Gas in this tariff proceeding, the impacts of these diversion rights.

On page 8, I had provided a heads-up to our – thank you -- projection support here.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we need to mark this as an exhibit.

MR. QUINN:  Oh, thank you, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  That's K8.6, and it's the written argument of Union Gas in the TCPL application for tariffs before the NEB, I assume?
EXHIBIT NO. K8.6:  UNION GAS WRITTEN ARGUMENT IN TCPL APPLICATION RH-001-2013.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  This is in RH-001-2013, which is a proceeding that's still underway, and these -- this was a submission by Union Gas from September 17th.

And the chart on page 8, we talked about the LTAA so I'm not going to ask you to define that further.  And I guess I'll turn to Union, because this is their submission on behalf of the market area shippers; is that correct, Mr. Isherwood?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  In reading this chart and getting to the bottom line, it's my understanding that Union Gas is arguing that even with the current conditions that are in place, that -- and with an update of the 170,000 tJs that we referred to with Ms. Giridhar earlier, TransCanada is very close to breaking even in 2013 in terms of the total stabilization account; is that an accurate summary of Union's representation here?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think you have to be a bit careful about the words "breaking even," but what this chart is trying to get to was once you hit the 38,000, which is the second-last number on the column under 2013 -- 38 million, sorry.  Above that is a $53 million shortfall currently before reaching to zero, basically, but you hit earnings sharing at 38 million.

So the intent of this chart is to say that TCPL has been very successful this summer selling long-haul and short-haul FT.

MR. QUINN:  So under the -- what's been provided here, confirm, if you will, the discretionary miscellaneous revenue is not a forecast?  These are actual revenues?  These revenues are not at risk.  These are contracted miscellaneous revenues?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  What's at risk is the 53 million.  The remaining shortfall is still uncontracted.  Everything above that is, at least on the revenue side, is contracted.

MR. QUINN:  So said differently, they're 15 million of discretionary revenue short of hitting a threshold whereby TransCanada would actually draw incentive payments from ratepayers as part of -- as a result of their ability to get to that level?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  But just go back to an earlier statement about -- I think you used the words "break even."  They're still -- behind the scenes here, TCPL has contributed $100 million to the long-term adjustment account.

So they're still not breaking even by any means, by any means.

MR. QUINN:  Well, if we look at the next column, Mr. Isherwood, that's 2014, and to the extent diversion rights may or may not have been changed by that point -- because I don't have certainty on that -- if you put the discretionary miscellaneous revenues from 2013 and assume that same level is in 2014, would you agree with me that TransCanada will more than break even in 2014, with that addition of miscellaneous revenues at the same level as 2013?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, the point we want to make here is behind the scenes there's a long-term adjustment account, which is $100 million a year contribution on an annual basis, which happens during the entire term of the NEB period out to 2017.  So that number is not being recovered in these numbers at all.

MR. RHEAUME:  I'll just add something to answer your question about 2014.  2013 is a year where seven months or six months out of the 12 were prior to the RH-003 decision being implemented.  So one of the reasons why the miscellaneous revenues are so high was that was also partly prior to TransCanada having flexibility on discretionary pricing.

Discretionary pricing leads to higher firm contracts, but obviously less miscellaneous revenues.  So I don't think you can take a number from 2013, push it to 2014 and get to a conclusion.  I think that would be wrong.

MR. QUINN:  Then let me move us back a page to page 7.  On lines 10 to 17, it says:

"Whereas the new model has expressly contemplated shortfalls in the early years of the five-year fixed toll regime offset by stronger performance in later years, the forecasted toll stabilization account deficit is 38.3 million in 2013, 93.5 in 2014, and 62.8 in 2015, transitioning to an annual surplus of 45.9 million in 2016 and 148 million in 2017.  The combination of recent FT contracting, sales of discretionary services and cost-cutting already has TransCanada poised to realize the incentive profits over and above its recently elevated 11.5 percent return on 40 percent common equity, both of which are features of the new model."

Mr. Rheaume, were you party to this submission of written argument with Union?

MR. RHEAUME:  I was consulted on this final argument.

MR. QUINN:  You would support that statement?

MR. RHEAUME:  We would support that statement.

MR. QUINN:  So is -- I turn to TransCanada now.

MR. RHEAUME:  Let me just -- I support that this is the statement we made.  You need to put this into account of where it was made.

This was made in a proceeding where TransCanada was asking for changes to its tariffs, saying that they needed those changes to be able to meet the demand from the RH-003-2011 decision.  We were making the point that it was too early to make any changes yet to diversion rights, and that at this point, there was some data on the record that could lead us to believe that TransCanada was not going to need those changes to diversion rights.

There was nowhere in this that we were making a statement that we could guarantee TransCanada was going to recover its costs.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  The important point, though, is that the settlement agreement does factor how we're moving forward and what kind of changes to tolls and tariffs we would like in terms of renewal rights, the ability to shift from long-haul to short-haul flexibility, diversion, and so on.
And I think that's what we should be focusing on.

MR. QUINN:  I guess what we're trying to focus on is knowing as much as we can about whether these projects are in the public interest.

So asking TransCanada, do you agree with the statements that are made on page 7 and chart 1 on page 8?

MR. CLARK:  Mr. Quinn, I think you shouldn't read too much into that math.  You've got to remember that 2013 was a transitional year.  Things like RAM –- or the, sorry, the acronym of RAM...

MR. RHEAUME:  Risk alleviation mechanism.

MR. CLARK:  Sorry, I was having a little moment.

Risk alleviation mechanism was terminated, and a lot of our shippers had positions that incorporated RAM continuing.  And so there was a considerable amount of jostling and turmoil in the contracting position as that transition occurred.

The other thing to keep in mind here is that long-term adjustment account that Mr. Isherwood talked about is $100 million, close to $100 million of our revenue requirement that's not incorporated into the calculation.  So there's still a very significant amount of risk and true cost recovery to occur.

MR. QUINN:  As I'm reading the footnotes here, I thought that the -- on chart 1, the adjusted revenue requirement with LTAA reduction, are you saying that is included or excluded?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Which footnote is that?

MR. QUINN:  Footnote 3, adjusted revenue requirement, in the line that says "Adjusted revenue requirement with LTAA reduction."

MR. RHEAUME:  That means that the $95 million was taken out of revenue requirement, basically that it's not being paid for, that it's being pushed for future recovery by TransCanada.

MR. CLARK:  So the number there is after elimination of that $100 million from the revenue requirement.

MR. QUINN:  Again, my question is:  Do you agree with the math -- leaving aside 2013, do you agree with the math for 2014 and the statements made on page 7 that you're in a position poised to realize incentive profits over and above 11.5 percent return?

MR. CLARK:  I don't think I can say that at this point in time.

MR. QUINN:  Would you undertake to provide what your respond is --

MR. CLARK:  That's not the point.  The point is we're talking about future time, where contracting practices are unknown, how people will behave.  We don't know what the weather conditions will be like.  It's very much a function of those sorts of things.  So I just can't give you an answer.

MR. QUINN:  Well, we've been relying on a number of forecasts in these proceeding to try to interpolate between what parties have said at the outset of this proceeding and now under this term settlement sheet.

We still don't have the settlement agreement in front of us, and we find ourselves grappling with a lot of unknowns.  Yet the utilities are coming to this Board and saying:  Don't worry, these gas supply benefits will show up.

In our view, unless we have some data to support that, we're just all dealing with projections at this point.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mr. Quinn, if I might just -- I fail to see the relevance of understanding what TransCanada's return might or might not be in 2014 as a result of the pricing regime they have here with the projects that we're seeking approval for.  So we've made it very clear that from Enbridge's perspective, if you look at eight-three-five, I believe, it was our -- it's in evidence, so I won't repeat it.  Essentially there's up to a bcf of contracting that Enbridge needs to do, which is currently discretionary volumes.


The GTA project is predicated on providing cost-effective savings for our customers.  The project enables that for our CDA, and the combination of the terms sheet and TransCanada's facilities enables that for the EDA.


MR. QUINN:  My point in bringing this forward -- and I'll finish with this -- is it's seems that the utilities are very capable of putting together figures and forecasts to be able to present to the NEB about where TransCanada may stand in the coming year; yet when we ask about projecting what may happen as a result of this terms settlement sheet with any level of certainty, we're getting rebuffed as there is too much uncertainty as to what might happen.


I have a hard time reconciling the two, and I still don't have the certainty and the numbers that we are looking for that we expected when the terms sheet was given to us about a month ago.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  But I think what we do have is a range of 145 to 155 and a commitment to work together to try and get it down to the 50 percent level.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  And a demonstration that our projects are feasible with the ranges that we have calculated our numbers on.


MR. QUINN:  Your terms settlement sheet says that your target is 50 percent.  Is there anything in that settlement sheet that precludes an increase above 50 percent?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So that's why we've given the range -- the expected range to be 145 to 155.  That's what we would expect.  And our target is 50 percent.


MR. QUINN:  And I guess my last question is, is there anything that precludes you from increase it above 50 percent?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is not.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you for your indulgence, Madam Chair and Panel.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


We will rise for today.  By my calculation, between this panel and Enbridge's panel 3, I believe we have about five hours.  So we will sit tomorrow until we finish, and we will do our best to hold people to their allocations, and likewise, we will expect efficient answers from the witnesses.


Is there anything before we rise, Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  Well, this is perhaps hubris on my part to even raise this, but unfortunately, with the change in schedule I have a prior trial commitment, so I will not be here tomorrow.  That is no reflection on either my client or the importance of the matters, but my colleague, Ms. Sears, will be here, so that is why I will not be, unfortunately.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:50 p.m.
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